Mississippi State University Scholars Junction

Theses and Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

8-7-2020

Post-harvest reduction of Salmonella in pork trimming

Dishnu Sajeev

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td

Recommended Citation

Sajeev, Dishnu, "Post-harvest reduction of Salmonella in pork trimming" (2020). *Theses and Dissertations*. 3578.

https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td/3578

This Graduate Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Scholars Junction. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholars Junction. For more information, please contact scholcomm@msstate.libanswers.com.



Post-harvest reduction of Salmonella in pork trimming

By

Dishnu Sajeev

Approved by:

Thu T. N. Dinh (Major Professor) Shecoya B. White Jean M. N. Feugang M. Wes Schilling Jamie E. Larson (Graduate Coordinator) George M. Hooper (Dean, College of Agriculture and Life Sciences)

> A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Mississippi State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Agriculture in the Department of Animal and Dairy Sciences

> > Mississippi State, Mississippi

August 2020



Copyright by

Dishnu Sajeev



Name: Dishnu Sajeev Date of Degree: August 7, 2020 Institution: Mississippi State University Major Field: Agriculture Major Professor: Thu T. N. Dinh Title of Study: Post-harvest reduction of Salmonella in pork trimming Pages in Study: 81 Candidate for Degree of Master of Science

The objective of the current study was to determine the efficacy of 3% acetic acid in reducing *Salmonella* in pork trimming and the effects of such treatment on meat quality. For 15-s dipping and 5-log CFU/pork cube inoculation, only 0.2- to 0.3-log reduction was observed ($P \le 0.026$). Acetic acid worked best at 75 s and 50°C, providing 1.4-log reduction (P < 0.001), damaging *Salmonella* cell membranes. When an inoculated pork cube was placed at the geometrical center of 2.3-kg pork trimming, dipping at 50°C for 75 s only reduced *Salmonella* by 0.2 log (P = 0.040). Although dipping slightly increased lightness (P < 0.001) and decreased redness ($P \le 0.008$) on the meat surface, no inside color change was detected (P = 0.120). Neither lipid oxidation (TBARS, P = 0.644), protein solubility (P = 0.187), nor water-holding capacity (P = 0.076) were affected by treatments.



DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my beloved family, teachers, and friends who supported me throughout my life. I would like to express my sincere gratitude and love to my father Mr. K. Sajeev and my mother Mrs. C. Deepa for spending a major part of their life nurturing me physically and mentally. I am grateful to my sister for always being there for me as a friend. A special dedication to my lovely fiancée Rajalakshmi for her sweet words and smile that always gave me a positive energy.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my graduate committee members, Dr. Thu Dinh, Dr. Shecoya White, Dr. Jean Feugang, and Dr. Wes Schilling for their direction and support throughout my master's program. I would like to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to my major advisor Dr. Thu Dinh for giving me the opportunity to pursue my M.S. degree and for his complete guidance and help for the successful completion of my master's program. I would like to express my courtesy to the National Pork Board for funding this research. I would like to extend my gratitude to all the faculty, staff, and graduate students in the Animal and Dairy Sciences department for their cooperation and support for my studies. I am deeply indebted to Dr. Anuraj T Sukumaran and Dr. Reshma Ramachandran for their support and encouragement throughout in my academic life.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDIC	CATION	ii		
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	iii		
LIST OF TABLES				
LIST C	OF FIGURES	vii		
CHAP	ΓER			
I.	INTRODUCTION	1		
II.	LITERATURE REVIEW	3		
	Pork production and <i>Salmonella</i> contamination	3		
	Salmonella and salmonellosis in meat	5		
	Salmonella contamination during pork production			
	Performance standards	12		
	Decontamination technologies to reduce Salmonella in pork	14		
	Pre-harvest interventions	14		
	Preventing Salmonella contamination during slaughter	15		
	Antimicrobial modes of action of organic acids	······1/ 21		
	Effects of decontamination technologies on pork quality			
	Conclusion	25		
	REFERENCES	27		
III.	POST-HARVEST REDUCTION OF SALMONELLA IN PORK TRIMMING	40		
	Abstract	40		
	Introduction	40		
	Materials and methods			
	Pork samples and reagents			
	Salmonella cultures and inocula.			
	Fork sample moculation			
	Sumonena chumeration and orotunniescent infaging			



Experiment 1: Effects of temperature on efficacy of 3% acetic acid in	
reducing Salmonella	46
Experiment 2: Effects of heat shock in reducing Salmonella	46
Experiment 3: Effects of temperature and dipping time on efficacy of 3%	
acetic acid in reducing Salmonella	47
Experiment 4: Efficacy of 3% acetic acid at 50°C in reducing Salmonella	
inoculated at the geometrical center of pork chubs	48
Experiment 5: Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) and Transmission	
Electron Microscopy (TEM) of Salmonella cells	48
Experiment 6: Effects of temperature and dipping time of 3% acetic acid on	
pork quality	50
Treatment application and sample collection	50
Surface color (L*, a*, and b*) and myoglobin composition	50
Trolox-equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC)	51
Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS)	51
Protein solubility	52
Water-holding capacity (WHC)	52
рН	52
Statistical analysis	53
Results and Discussion	54
Salmonella reduction by 3% acetic acid	54
Structural damages of Salmonella cells by 3% acetic acid	57
Effects of temperature and dipping time of 3% acetic acid on pork quality	59
Conclusions	62
Acknowledgement	63
Tables and Figures	64
REFERENCES	75



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Chemical quality of pork longissimus muscle treated with 3% acetic acid at	
	room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s	
	compared with negative control (NEG).	64



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Log reduction of nalidixic acid-resistant <i>Salmonella</i> (5-log inoculation; XLD-plating) and lux-modified <i>Salmonella</i> (8-log inoculation; bioluminescent imaging) on pork cubes treated by dipping in 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) and 50°C (ACH) for 15 s
Figure 2	Log reduction of nalidixic acid-resistant <i>Salmonella</i> culture in microcentrifuge tube (200 µL, 6 log/mL; XLD-plating) by dipping culture tubes in ice-cold water (0°C) and 50°C water in either cold-to-hot (HSC) or hot-to-cold (HSH) order. Application time was 2 min for culture to reach 50°C at 11.1°C/min66
Figure 3	Log reduction of nalidixic acid-resistant <i>Salmonella</i> (5-log inoculation; XLD-plating) on pork cubes treated by dipping in 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s
Figure 4	Log reduction of nalidixic acid-resistant <i>Salmonella</i> (5-log inoculation; XLD-plating) on pork cubes placed at geometrical center of 2.3-kg pork chubs treated by dipping in 3% acetic acid at 50°C for 75 s without (ACH) or with handshaking (ACHS)
Figure 5	Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images (top – 5,000X; bottom – 50,000X) of <i>Salmonella</i> cells for positive control (left), 45-s (center), and 75-s (right) 3% acetic acid treatment at 50°C
Figure 6	Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images (top – 5,000X; bottom – 50,000X) of <i>Salmonella</i> cells for positive control (left), 45-s (center), and 75-s (right) 3% acetic acid treatment at 50°C
Figure 7a	Lightness (L*) of pork <i>longissimus</i> muscle serving as negative control (NEG) or treated with 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s, averaged across before- and after-treatment surfaces and cross-sectional surfaces
Figure 7b	Lightness (L*) before- and after-treatment surfaces and cross-sectional surfaces, averaged across negative control (NEG) and six treatments of 3% acetic acid dipping at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s.



vii

Figure 8	Redness (a*) of pork <i>longissimus</i> muscle serving as negative control (NEG) or treated
	with 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15,
	45, or 75 s, on before- and after-treatment surfaces and post-treatment cross-
	sectional surfaces
Figure 9	Myoglobin composition (%) of pork <i>longissimus</i> muscle serving as negative control
	(NEG) or treated with 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or
	50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s, on before- and after-treatment surfaces and



CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Salmonella is one of the most common foodborne bacteria that threaten the food safety system of the U.S., and salmonellosis is one of the leading causes of a large number of hospitalizations in the U.S. (CDC, 2019). In 2018, 40% of the total meat consumed in the world was pork, and the U.S. ranked 8th in the world per capita pork consumption, at 65.3 lbs./person (NPB, 2019), making pork the second most consumed meat worldwide. As a recognized source of human salmonellosis (Rostagno et al., 2012), Salmonella contamination in pork is a major food safety issue for the meat industry and has a negative impact on public health and consumer confidence. From 2016 to 2019, approximately 549,102 lbs. of pork and pork products were recalled due to Salmonella contamination (USDA/FSIS, 2019). Regardless of both pre- and post-harvest safety measures were employed in pork production sector, incidence due to Salmonella contamination has been increasing every year. Salmonella contamination unavoidably occurs at any stage of pork production because Salmonella colonizes in the intestinal tract of pigs. Pigs, as monogastric animals, are stressed easily either during transportation or in lairage and shed pathogenic bacteria that contaminate the animals' batch (Kumar et al., 2019). Current practices to control Salmonella infection in pre-harvest pork production are vaccination, antibiotic treatments, good management, and biosecurity procedures (Baer et al., 2013). In the post-harvest production, hot-water scalding, washing, and singeing are used (Loretz et al., 2011). Apart from these conventional methods, novel interventions such as ultraviolet lights, bacteriophages, and chemical agents. Ultraviolet light at a



wavelength of 250-260 nm is effective for decontaminating the surface of the meat (Guo, Huang, &Chen, 2017), but it can result in quality damage of meat due to lipid oxidation (Wambura & Verghese, 2011). Bacteriophages are approved by the FDA to use as a decontaminating agent in the food industry (Jahid & Ha, 2012); however, they do not have broad-spectrum effects (Wei et al., 2019). Chemical decontamination agents such as acetic acid, citric acid, and lactic acid (organic acids), hydrogen peroxide, acidified sodium chlorite, peroxyacetic acid, or trisodium phosphate are widely used for bacterial decontamination (Hamilton et al., 2010; Loretz et al., 2011). Antimicrobial interventions, especially acid spraying or washing, have been extensively studied for beef and poultry processing, whereas limited research has been conducted for pork processing (Britton, 2018). In the pork industry, the use of chemical antimicrobials is limited to organic acids (Loretz et al., 2011), which are economical, efficient, and generally recognized as safe by regulatory agencies (GRAS; FDA, 2017). Current pork safety practices place most emphases during slaughter (Hendricks et al., 2018). However, safety interventions for pork trimming are lacking. Therefore, following a literature review of various safety interventions to reduce *Salmonella* in pork, the current study was aimed to determine the efficacy of 3% acetic acid in reducing Salmonella in pork trimming and the effects of such treatment on meat quality.



CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Pork production and Salmonella contamination

Production and trade

Development in the pork market is very dynamic as a result of globalization of the economy and its associated outcomes (Szymanska, 2017). National Agricultural Statistical Service (NASS) reported that total commercial pork production in the U.S. was 27.7 billion lbs. in 2019, 1.3 billion lbs. greater than 2018, which was a new exporting record, at 26.9% of 2019 pork production with a total volume of 5.89 billion lbs. of pork and pork variety meats valued at \$6.95 billion (NASS/USDA, 2019; NPB, 2020). Four countries accounted for 75% of U.S pork exports, including Mexico (31%), Japan (23%), China (12%), and Canada (10%). From 1990 to 2016, U.S. pork export jumped from 2 to 21% (USDA, 2019). Since 2000, the U.S. has been one of the top five pork-exporting countries, shipping more than 5 billion lbs. of fresh and frozen pork to foreign markets. However, there was a decline in pork import to the U.S., which was less than 10% of global pork imports (USDA, 2020) because of an increase in the U.S hog production. In 2019, U.S. hog inventory increased by 4% compared to that of 2018 (NASS/USDA, 2019). In 2019, Smithfield led the pork-packing industry with a total capacity of 130,300 heads/day, followed by JBS with 93,000 heads/day.



Pork production in the U.S. is concentrated heavily in the Midwest-Iowa and Southern Minnesota (ERS/USDA, 2019). Low production cost, safety and quality of production, efficient production, and authenticity of supply (Young, 2005) make the U.S. one of the largest pork exporters, with approximately 20% of commercial pork production every year. During 2014, the world's pork production was 110.5 million tons, and it was 1.5% higher than in 2013 (USDA, 2016). From 2005 to 2015, there was an increase of 14.6% in pork production on a global scale, with more than 110.3 million tons in HCW, which accounted for 42.8% of the total volume of meat production. Pork production in the U.S. is vertically integrated, a production system following a rapid shift in pork production since 1990, when the number of pig farms declined by 70%, and individual enterprises for pork production grew by more than 30% due to increased specialization in a single phase of production. Earlier hogs were produced on farrow-to-finish operations that managed the production from breeding to the sale for slaughter. Today, most hog operations specialize only in one of the three major life-cycle phases of production, either breeding to weaning stage, weaning to a feeder pig, or feeder pig to slaughter stage. In 1992, 65% of market hogs came from farrow-to-finish farms. By 2009, hogs from farrow-to-finish were reduced to 20%, and more than 70% of market hogs were produced by specialized feederto-finish farms (ERS/USDA, 2014). This shift in production was also associated with improved technologies and economic relationships among producers, packers, and consumers. The specialized single phase of production operates under contractual agreements, by which hog owners pay fees to producers to grow the animals through different stages (Maples et al., 2019). This contractual basis consisted of 5% of hog production in 1992 but shifted to more than 70% in 2009 (Key, 2014). The development of technologies in genetics, nutrition, handling practices, and safety contributed remarkably to the development of the pork production industry. Lusk



(2013) reported that 71% of the enhanced pork productivity is due to the contribution of technological advancement. Due to the increasing demand for pork in the international market, pork production is still a growing industry (Vermeulen et al., 2015). Therefore, controlling pathogenic bacteria in pork, especially *Salmonella* contamination, is an important component of the pork production chain.

Salmonella and salmonellosis in meat

The genus salmonella has two species, Salmonella enterica, and Salmonella bongori. Salmonella enterica consists of six sub-species. More than 2,500 serotypes of Salmonella exist, classified by types of antigen, either O or H antigen. The majority of *Salmonella* harmful to humans comes under the species S. enterica. Prevalent serotypes of Salmonella that cause foodborne outbreaks are Salmonella Enteritidis, Salmonella Typhimurium, Salmonella Heidelberg, and Salmonella Newport (CDC, 2011). Salmonella is a facultative gram-negative rod-shaped anaerobic bacterium of the *Enterobacteriaceae* family. It colonizes in the intestinal tract of animals, mainly livestock, wildlife, and humans. Salmonella is a chemoorganotrophic organism, metabolizing nutrients through oxidative and chemical pathways (Eng et al., 2015). Consumption of Salmonella-contaminated food is the primary source of infection in humans (Hugas et al., 2014). Therefore, common sources of Salmonella contamination are from foods of animal origin, such as meat, milk, egg, or fish (USDA/FSIS, 2011). According to Gonzalez et al. (2015), 10 to 20% of foodborne illnesses are caused by *Salmonella* associated with pork and pork products. According to the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), after consuming contaminated foods, symptoms of salmonellosis start to appear from 12 to 72 h. They can last for 4 to 7 days, depending on the severity of the infection (CDC, 2017). Common symptoms are diarrhea, abdominal cramps, and fever. Momin et al. (2020) and Antunes et al. (2016) reported



www.manaraa.com

that for a healthy person, the infectious level is typically $\geq 5 \log Salmonella$ cells, and for susceptible individuals, even a few cells can cause infection. Therefore, it is important to understand how bacterial contamination spread through the pork production chain and the technologies available to reduce such a risk.

Salmonella contamination during pork production

Salmonella contamination in pork occurs at both pre-harvest (animal production) and postharvest (animal processing) stages. The muscle tissues of animals are sterile. Dickson & Acuff (2017) reported that microbiological contamination of the sterile muscle tissue occurs when they are converted from live animal to meat. Salmonella spp. and Campylobacter spp. are the bacteria commonly found in pig intestinal tract. In the finishing barns, pigs can be infected with bacteria through infected feed, contact with an infected pig, contaminated environment, contaminated surface, equipment, or person (Fois et al., 2017), which are the main routes of Salmonella transmission in pigs. Clinical symptoms of salmonellosis exhibit when pigs are exposed to a high dose of Salmonella. According to Fedorka-cray et al. (1994), pigs infected with 4 log of Salmonella are still a carrier, and they do not exhibit any clinical symptoms. However, Gray et al. (1995) reported that pigs infected with 8 log Salmonella showed clinical signs such as diarrhea, high temperature, and loss of appetite due to salmonellosis. A potential source of preharvest contamination is contaminated feed and water. Other sources are rodents, birds, and humans. Salmonella can survive for a long period of time under an unfavorable environment. Therefore, it is difficult to eliminate *Salmonella* by cleaning the finishing barns (Zamora-Sanabria & Alvarado, 2017).



Transportation of live pigs from finishing barns to the packing plants is a primary step involved in the process of slaughter. Loading and unloading of pigs during transportation are stressful to pigs (Goumon & Faucitano, 2017). After arriving at the packing plants, the pigs are moved into resting pens. The use of these pens in a slaughterhouse is to provide a continuous supply of pigs to the slaughter line and to serve as a resting place for the pigs after transportation (Brandt & Aaslyng, 2014). Transportation of the pigs is a primary source of bacterial contamination because it creates various stressors such as feed withdrawal, high stocking density, changes in the environment such as temperature and noises. Pigs, as monogastric animals, are stressed easily, leading to bacterial shedding, especially Salmonella, in carrier pigs (Andres & Davies, 2015). In the resting place of packing plants, most pigs will be potential carriers of Salmonella with the intestinal tract and lymph nodes being the most common locations where Salmonella colonizes and proliferates. Stress during transportation and in resting area of carrier pigs increases Salmonella shedding rate, which further cross-contaminates other animals, kill floor, and equipment during slaughter (Snary et al., 2016). The length of the time in lairage also contributes to the level of *Salmonella* infection in pigs (Bonardi, 2017). The more time pigs spend in lairage, the higher the risk of *Salmonella* infection because of higher fecal contamination from the previous or within the same group of animals (González Santamarina, 2019).

Carcass contamination is correlated with skin contamination of live pigs before stunning, and the skin contamination is affected by lairage duration and hygienic conditions (Bonardi et al., 2016). The primary source of bacterial contamination during slaughter is animals. Slaughter of infected pigs and slaughter of a large number of pigs in the same line with the same equipment and



www.manaraa.com

surfaces contribute to direct or indirect bacterial contamination on the carcass surface (Li et al., 2016). Badvela et al. (2016) reported that 70% of all carcass contamination resulted from the animals themselves being carriers, with the rest being cross-contamination from other positive carcasses. In pork processing, from stunning to fabrication, the probability of *Salmonella* contamination is high because approximately 50% of the pig carcasses after exsanguination are positive for *Salmonella* (Casanova-Higes et al., 2017). These authors found that positive pigs shed *Salmonella* approx. 30 times higher than negative pigs during the slaughter. Therefore, processing steps along the slaughter line are critical to control bacterial contamination on the carcass (Sohaib et al., 2016).

On the day of slaughter, pigs are moved into the stunning chamber manually or by automatic push gates. Stunning happens before sticking to render the animal insensitive to pain until the animal is dead (Velarde & Dalmau, 2018). The most common stunning methods used in pigs are electrical stunning and gas stunning. In electrical stunning, it is required to restrain the animal first, and the electrical probes are placed on the head behind the ears with a voltage of 110 V and current of 1.25 amp. In gas stunning, the animals are not restrained, and the gas used for stunning is CO₂. The unconscious animal is further exsanguinated, and this process must be performed efficiently to prevent the pigs from regaining consciousness and experiencing pain (Brandt & Aaslyng, 2014). During stunning, potential contamination source is limited to bacteria that are on the animal. After exsanguination, scalding is performed in a water tank at 60 - 62°C for 3 to 5 min. The primary purpose of scalding is to reduce bacterial counts and assist in the dehairing. Scalding of pigs destroys most bacteria on the skin (Swart et al., 2016). Bolton et al. (2002) reported a reduction of 1.5 log CFU/cm² of bacterial count after the scalding. However, Hill et al.



www.manaraa.com

(2016) reported that after the scalding process, the rectum of the pigs would be loosened and scratching with a dehairing device, which potentially introduces bacteria to the skin surface because of fecal material exiting the rectum of the pig. This probability of cross-contamination is high if a large number of pigs in the same batch are processed. Dehairing is performed after scalding to remove hairs from the animal body. Scalding reduces the overall bacterial population on the surface of the carcass due to high temperature, whereas dehairing is a major source of bacterial contamination. Many reports supported that the bacterial contamination of the dehairing machine jeopardized pork safety. Rivas et al. (2000) found a bacterial count of 4.4 to 6.2 log CFU/cm² in the dehairing machine three hours after slaughter. Regardless, scalding and dehairing reduce *Salmonella* prevalence from 91.2% to 19.1% (Schmidt et al., 2012).

After dehairing, the internal organs are removed from the animal through the evisceration, a process reportedly being a significant source of bacterial contamination on pork carcass (Belluco et al., 2015). Davies et al. (1999) found an increase of 4 to 32 % in *Salmonella* count on pork carcass after evisceration. During the head drop, the mandibular lymph node present in the head can be a potential source of contamination because *Salmonella* colonizes the lymph nodes of the animal and can spread to the knife, resulting in cross-contamination during slaughter (Bonardi et al., 2016). The evisceration of carcass is a manual operation that has the highest potential for *Salmonella* contamination if not practiced properly. Damage to internal organs while eviscerating a carcass can spread bacteria to the carcass surface and the equipment. Approximately 55 and 90% of carcass contamination occurs during evisceration because there are limited methods to control contamination at this stage, which mostly depends on the skill and efficiency of employees (De Busser et al., 2013). Hygiene and skill of the workers are also a



www.manaraa.com

potential factor of bacterial contamination (Bakhtiary et al., 2016). Trimming and final washing of the carcass have a great impact on the bacterial population (Belluco et al., 2015). This step helps reduce the bacterial population to an almost undetectable level. It was reported that aseptic trimming of the carcass reduces total bacterial count by approximately 3 log on the beef carcass (Dickson and Acuff, 2017). Singeing of the carcass is performed after evisceration to remove the remaining bacteria and hair from the carcass surface. Corbellini et al. (2016) reported a reduction of 2.5 log in Salmonella count on pig carcass after singeing. The carcass undergoing singeing is then washed with warm or cold water to remove the bone dust and blood clots. Pig slaughter is finalized with chilling of the carcasses to remove heat from the hot carcass surface as quickly as possible (Huff-Lonergan & Page, 2001). Chilling also helps prevent the proliferation of bacteria on the surface of the hot carcass (Tomovic et al., 2011). During chilling, reducing the temperature of the carcass surface helps minimize bacterial growth and further contamination. However, if the chilling conditions permit the carcasses to remain moist and warm for an extended period, psychotropic bacteria will grow and contaminate the carcasses (Reid et al., 2017). During chilling, carcass temperature, water activity (a_w) , carcass surface pH, are the main factors limiting microbial growth (Reid et al., 2017). In spray chilling, the chance of contamination is higher than that of blast chilling because of the moisture present on the carcass surface.

During fabrication, the potential sources of *Salmonella* cross-contamination are equipment, knives, cutting boards, or inedible tissues (Martínez-Chávez et al., 2015). Several studies discussed the sources associated with *Salmonella* in meat and meat products in the U.S. *Salmonella* contamination occurs not only through infected animals and humans, feed, and



processing at packing plants but also at retail establishments, and during distribution or preparation at home (Andres & Davies, 2015; Gonzalez et al., 2015). Although the majority of *Salmonella* contamination occurs from pre- and post-harvest practices as mentioned previously, contamination does happen at other points of the pork merchandising. Pork chops have 1 to 3.3% and ground pork, having approximately 16% *Salmonella* prevalence (Foley et al., 2008). Ground meat has the highest probability of *Salmonella* contamination (FSIS, 2017) because the trimming is sourced from various carcasses and suppliers. *Salmonella* surviving safety interventions can cross-contaminate ground meat during mixing and grinding (Møller et al., 2016). The meat industry has used decontamination technologies to reduce *Salmonella* in pork, during slaughter and fabrication to minimize *Salmonella* risk in minimally and further processed meats (Arguello et al., 2013).

Outbreaks and recalls

Salmonella is one of the most prevalent foodborne pathogens worldwide, causing infections in animals and humans that can be fatal (Zhu et al., 2019). Globally, *Salmonella* is responsible for approximately 153 million cases of gastroenteritis every year, that leads to hospitalization and death. In the U.S., 30% of food infections are salmonellosis, making *Salmonella* the second leading source of foodborne illness in the U.S. (Brunette, 2017). Approximately 75% of *Salmonella* infections in humans are caused by the consumption of contaminated meat and meat products (Momin et al., 2020), with pork being one of the main sources of human *Salmonella* infection (Sanchez-Maldonado et al., 2017). FSIS listed numerous recalls of pork and pork products due to *Salmonella* contamination in the last few years. In 2019, 6,444 lbs. of ready-to-eat (RTE) pork sausage patties were recalled (USDA/FSIS 2019). In 2017, 1,076 lbs. of salami were recalled. In 2016, approximately 550,287 lbs. of pork products were recalled due to



Salmonella contamination (USDA/FSIS 2016/ USDA/FSIS 2017). In 2015, 523,380 lbs. of whole roaster hogs and assorted pork were recalled due to *Salmonella* contamination (USDA/FSIS 2015). In Canada, contamination of pork due to *Salmonella* is a major public concern. Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) reported three pork recalls during 2019 and 18 pork recalls during 2016 due to *Salmonella* contamination. Raw Pork Products Exploratory Sampling Program Phase I from July 1, 2015, to June 30, 2017, reported a steady increase in *Salmonella* incidence rate in comminuted pork, from 21.24% in 2015 to more than 30.93% in 2017 (FSIS, 2017). From June 2017 through May 2018, Raw Pork Products Exploratory Sampling Program continued to Phase II. A total of 4145 raw pork samples (comminuted, non-intact, and intact cuts) were collected, and the prevalence of *Salmonella* was 26.74% for comminuted, 10.03% for intact, and 5.99% for non-intact pork (Scott et al., 2019).

Performance standards

Efforts to control *Salmonella* contamination in pork have focused on various product testing programs as well as regulatory policies on *Salmonella* as a contaminant in foods. In 1996, Food Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS) developed a *Salmonella* verification program as a part of the Pathogen Reduction under Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (PR/HACCP) systems final rule (FSIS, 1996). This PR/HACCP final rule established *Salmonella* performance standards used to verify and control *Salmonella* in meat and poultry processing facilities (FSIS/USDA, 2019). The performance standards come under the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), within Title 9 - Chapter III - Subchapter A - Part 310.25 for meat and 381.94 for poultry (CFR/USDA, 2020). The FSIS selected *Salmonella* as the target organism because of the incidence of a large number of *Salmonella*-related foodborne infections every year and because *Salmonella* is present in all primary food animals. The purpose of the implementation of



PR/HACCP performance standards was to reduce Salmonella contamination of raw products and allow the FSIS to verify whether processing and slaughtering facilities have effective strategies to address Salmonella hazard. Based on the performance standards, no more than 8.7% of samples from swine carcasses at pork processing facilities are to be positive for *Salmonella*. By 2011, the data showed that swine slaughter establishments had achieved Salmonella positive incidence below the performance standard by 2.6% in 2008, 2.3% in 2009, 2.4% in 2010, and 3.3% in 2011 (Self et al., 2017). The FSIS suspended sampling to redirect resources and has not generally considered Salmonella to be a serious contaminant in raw pork because Salmonella incidence has been more prevalent in the poultry products with outbreaks than pork products. However, in response to the modernization of pathogen control and the lack of progress in controlling Salmonella in pork, in 2013, the FSIS developed a Salmonella action plan aimed to determine the level of Salmonella contamination in FSIS-regulated pork products and devise effective measures to reduce such contamination. From 2015 to 2017, the FSIS launched a Raw Pork Products Exploratory Sampling Project phase I and detected Salmonella in 16.7% of pork product samples, including ground pork. The agency continued the sampling program in 2017 into phase II and is planning to use the results to develop new Salmonella performance standards for pork. In 2016, the FSIS revised the performance standards to include *Campylobacter* along with Salmonella in all beef and pork slaughtering and processing facilities along with new performance standards for Salmonella and Campylobacter in not ready-to-eat (NRTE) comminuted chicken and turkey products. Salmonella and Campylobacter performance standards are implemented not for an individual product but for the establishment's overall process control. Products are not tested for their quality and safety, but the sampling is to evaluate the effectiveness of the slaughter and grinding processes to achieve minimal contamination. The



FSIS can request a re-assessment of the HACCP plan if an establishment does not meet the performance standards (8.7%). If still not meeting the standards, such an establishment will be suspended until they submit written assurances detailing the corrective actions in their HACCP system and other appropriate measures to reduce the prevalence of *Salmonella* (CFR/USDA, 2020).

Decontamination technologies to reduce *Salmonella* in pork

Pre-harvest interventions

Decontamination technologies are applied in both pre- and post-harvest stages of pork production to reduce Salmonella contamination. In pre-harvest pork production, common practices are management, biosecurity procedures, vaccination, and antibiotic treatments (Baer et al., 2013). Maes et al. (2001) studied the efficacy of vaccination in pigs and found a reduction of 6.6% of Salmonella that colonized in the lymph nodes of 3- to 16-week old pigs. Moreover, dietary feeding of probiotics or prebiotics, along with or without vaccination, showed better results in the reduction of *Salmonella* in pigs. However, probiotics or prebiotics with proper vaccination is effective than without vaccination (Kreuzer et al., 2012). Recently, bacteriophage therapy has been introduced in the swine industry to decrease Salmonella. This technology was previously established in the beef industry to reduce *E-coli* (Carter et al., 2012). The efficacy of feeding encapsulated phages to pigs was 2- to 3-log reduction in Salmonella Typhimurium. However, the effectiveness of phage therapy lasts only for a short period of approx. 6 to 12 h (Wall et al., 2010). In lairage, reducing the holding time and maintaining the hygiene of the holding environment has been considered an effective method to reduce Salmonella infection. Typical holding time for pigs is 2 to 3 h to decrease transportation stress (De Busser et al., 2013).



Preventing Salmonella contamination during slaughter

In post-harvest pork production, abattoir hygiene and decontamination of carcasses are the key actions to control Salmonella contamination (Van Hoek et al., 2012). Biasino et al. (2018) reported 4 log CFU/cm² of total aerobic bacteria and 2 log CFU/cm² of Salmonella on pig carcass after slaughter and a positive correlation between hygiene indicators (total aerobic bacteria and Enterobacteriaceae) and Salmonella count, which showed that proper decontamination of facilities must be implemented to control pathogenic bacteria. There are many critical control points along the slaughter line to control Salmonella contamination, such as during scalding, removal of internal organs, removal of pluck set, singeing, and during the meat inspection process (Arguello et al., 2013). Pigs entering the slaughter area have a high prevalence of food pathogens, especially Salmonella, in their skin and stomach. It was reported that the occurrence of Salmonella in the skin of pigs is as high as 28 to 40% (Blagojevic et al., 2011), and in some cases, 60% pig carcasses are Salmonella positive (Biasino et al., 2018). Compared to other ruminants, pigs are not skinned after slaughtering; therefore, the probability of contamination is higher for pigs. Scalding, dehairing, and singeing were usually performed to minimize this type of contamination, which makes skin as an edible part. It was reported that the scalding reduced approximately 2 log of bacterial count from pigskin. (Buncic & Sofos, 2012). However, irregular changing of scalding water and dirtiness of the pigs are the two risk factors (Blagojevic et al., 2011). It is better to use mechanized bung cutter along with plastic bags to close the rectum to eliminate leakage of feces into the carcass after scalding (Houf, 2012). The careful evisceration of slaughtered pigs can also minimize pathogenic contamination on carcasses. The risk of Salmonella contamination is still high because of potential spillage of the intestinal contents onto carcasses either from natural openings or when a puncture occurs (De Busser et al., 2013). Van



Ba et al. (2019) observed 1-log CFU/cm² reduction in Salmonella count after proper evisceration of a pig carcass. There is also a high probability of cross-contamination by knives and hands during the evisceration process. (Buncic et al., 2012) as well as during the splitting of carcass using electric saw. The prevalence of Salmonella cross-contamination during carcass breaking range from 0% to 31.1% (Wong & Hald, 2000). For hair removal, pork carcasses are singed, a process using open-flame gas burners, which will burn the remaining hairs. Proper singeing is performed at 1300-1500°C, which reduces of 1.5 to 3 log of the total bacterial count. (Bolton et al., 2002). The re-contamination of pork carcasses occurs during carcass polishing after singeing (James, 2007) because pathogens surviving singeing will be disseminated into polishing tools (Delhalle, 2008). However, Zwirzitz et al. (2019) reported that total bacterial count was reduced from 5 log during bleeding to 3 log after singeing and polishing pig carcasses. The chilling of pork carcass is another method of reducing the further growth of Salmonella. Chilling of the carcass at a temperature less than 7°C within 24 h can reduce the entry of pathogens on the carcass, even though the reduction in the total viable count is less (Savell et al., 2004). Temperature monitoring, sanitation of the surface, and carcass spacing should be appropriately monitored to avoid cross-contamination during chilling (Buncic et al., 2012). Carcass chilling or meat freezing prolongs the lag phase of the bacteria and reduces their proliferation on the carcass surfaces. Jay (2000) reported that chilling could cause permanent physical damage to bacteria due to chemical changes happened in their lipid bilayer because microbial activities are based on chemical and enzymatic reactions, which are limited at low temperatures. Salmonella contamination can also occur through contact with workers, knives, band saw, conveyor belt, surfaces, and among carcasses or tissues (Yang et al., 2017). Youssef et al. (2013) found a 1.4 log total bacterial count on knives and 1.6 log on the conveyor belt after the fabrication.



Therefore, in addition to best practices during slaughter and fabrication, decontamination technologies must be employed to further reduce the risk of *Salmonella*.

Decontamination technologies

Current decontamination methods to control pathogenic microorganisms include the use of antimicrobial agents, steam ultrasound, hot water wash, steam vacuuming, ultraviolet (UV) light, and carcass chilling (Loretz et al., 2011). Comparing different decontamination methods, washing with hot water is the second most cost-effective for Salmonella decontamination. The use of cold water only produces cosmetic effects and cannot be considered as an effective decontamination method for Salmonella contamination (Bolton et al., 2002). Other than hot water wash, the use of steam ultrasound has been practiced and is more cost-effective than hot water; however, it has lower efficacy in Salmonella reduction than hot water. In steam ultrasound, steam at 130°C was directed to the carcass surface to kill bacteria. Lawson et al. (2009) found a reduction of 1 log CFU/cm² Salmonella using hot water at 80°C and 0.8 log CFU/cm² using the steam method and suggested that steam ultrasound was cheaper than hot water. Ultraviolet light with a wavelength from 100 to 400 nm classified into three categories, UV-A (315-400 nm), UV-B (280-315 nm), and UV-C (200-280 nm) range (Lazaro et al., 2014) is another decontamination technology for carcasses. The UV-C at a wavelength of 250 to 260 nm is effective for decontaminating the surface of fresh products (Guo, Huang, & Chen, 2017). The photochemical effect of the UV will directly destroy the DNA helix and interferes with cell replication (Yeh et al., 2017). Similar to the UV light technique, several studies have been conducted on pulsed light method, a recent technique to decontaminate meat and contaminated surfaces in the meat processing facilities. In the pulsed light technique, full-spectrum lights from inert gases (200 to 1100 nm) are applied on the meat surface with high intensity for a short time



to destroy bacterial DNA (Barba et al., 2018). Yeh et al. (2018) found a reduction of 1.2 log of Salmonella using UV lights on ground beef. Koch et al. (2019) used pulsed light to obtain 1.7and 3.6- log reduction in *Salmonella* on the pork loin and pork skin, respectively. The disadvantage of both UV and pulsed lights is that they cause damages to meat color due to oxidation of myoglobin and lipids (Mahendran et al., 2019). Phage therapy or bacteriophages are considered as therapeutic agents in the medical industry for a long time, and they were approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2006 as a decontaminating agent in the food industry (Mahony et al., 2011). Phages infect specific bacteria without causing harm to the microflora. Cocktails from phages are very effective in reducing various food pathogenic bacteria (Radford et al., 2017). Currently, many bacteriophage solutions are commercially available to be used in the food industry, such as ListShieldTM, the first commercial bacteriophage for ready-to-eat (RTE) meat products (USDA/FSIS, 2014). Commercial phages against *Salmonella* are SalmoFreshTM and Salmonelex TM. Bacteriophages are classified into lytic (virulent) and lysogenic (temperate) phages (Enderson et al., 2014). The lytic bacteriophages have an antimicrobial property, and it is widely used in the food industry because they destroy the host bacteria without affecting the host genome, results in the rapid death of the bacteria with minimal development of resistance (FDA, 2006). Lysogenic bacteriophages, however, induce bacterial death under environmental stress by incorporating their DNA within the bacterial genome for replication, which can potentially result in antibacterial resistance (Grant et al., 2016). Hooton et al. (2011) found that *Salmonella*-specific bacteriophage application in pig skin produced a reduction of 1.2 log CFU/g in Salmonella. Similarly, Duc et al. (2018) reported a reduction of 1.8 log Salmonella on chicken meat using phage therapy. The disadvantage of phage



therapy is the limitation of their use in broad-spectrum protection against various bacterial pathogens and difficulty of phage delivery to the target site (Wei et al., 2019).

The critical control points (CCP) during pork slaughter are scalding, evisceration, singeing and chilling (FAO, 2004). The use of decontaminating agents is limited during hog slaughter, which may be the reason for an increase in bacterial load on pork and pork products. The application of antimicrobial agents on meat, such as beef and chicken, gives insights into potential applications in pork processing to reduce bacterial load on the final pork carcass (Buncic et al., 2012). Chemicals such as acetic acid, citric acid, and lactic acid (organic acids), hydrogen peroxide, acidified sodium chlorite, saponin, electrolyzed water, peroxy-acids, or trisodium phosphate in water are widely accepted as antimicrobial agents in the meat industry. In pig carcasses, the use of antimicrobial agents is limited to organic acids (Loretz et al., 2011). Usually, antimicrobial agents are applied during slaughter fabrication on carcass or meat surfaces as mist, fog, or small droplet rinse (Gutzmann et al., 2011). Organic acid treatments are economical, simple, quick, and more efficient than other antimicrobial agents (Hinton & Corry, 1999; Mir & Masoodi, 2018). The FDA designated organic acids as generally recognized as safe (GRAS) for meat (FDA, 2017). Organic acids are considered as weak acids. Only a few studies reported the decontamination property of organic acids on pork carcasses in commercial facilities. Spraying or dipping with lactic acid effectively reduced Salmonella load on carcasses and various meat cuts (Epling et al., 1993). Fu, Sebranek, and Murano (1994) reported a reduction of 0.7 to 1.7 log of Salmonella on pig carcasses after spraying them with 1.5% acetic or citric acid. Eggemberger-Solorzano et al. (2002) combined 1.8% acetic acid with hot water (82°C) on hog carcasses and achieved a 2.3-log bacterial reduction. Christiansen et al. (2009) reported that spraying 2.5%



lactic acid at 80°C for 15 s reduced *Salmonella* by 2.8 and 2.0 log CFU/cm² on pork skin and lean pork surfaces, respectively. Choi et al. (2009) used a combination of 3% lactic and 3% acetic acid on fresh pork and found a reduction of 2.0 to 2.6 log CFU/cm² on the total bacterial count. Other combinations, such as 5% lactic acid and 400 ppm peroxy-acetic acid, only reduced *Salmonella* by 0.6 log in beef trimming (Yeh et al., 2018). The authors suggested that such a low reduction could be explained by the ability of *Salmonella* cells to develop oxidative stress resistance during adverse conditions.

Pork trimming production is typically the final step in the fabrication, and it should be a critical control point to apply antibacterial intervention (Castelo et al., 2001); however, no antimicrobial is normally applied at this step. Due to extensive handling during fabrication and further processing of the carcasses, the probability of re-contamination of pork trimmings and pork cuts are inevitable. The effectiveness of antimicrobial interventions on the whole carcasses during slaughter is decreased in the fabricated trimming products. The potential source of contamination during pork fabrication is from worker hands and tools. Therefore, it is imperative to perform antimicrobial interventions to pork trim before grinding (Duffy et al., 2001). However, for trimming, harsh interventions such as heating the surface with steam cannot be applied because it can adversely impact the meat quality (Kang et al., 2001). Prendergast et al. (2008) studied the prevalence of Salmonella on pork cuts and found approx. 1.6 to 2.5 log CFU/g of Salmonella after fabrication on pork cuts. It has been reported that using a hurdle application reduced bacterial growth more efficiently. Kang et al. (2001) studied the efficacy of cold-water wash, followed by hot water wash, hot air, and 2% lactic acid spray in beef trimming and found greater efficacy than using individual treatments for the same duration. On the other hand, using 0.2%



buffered propionic acid, Badvela et al. (2016) reported a reduction of 1 log CFU/ml *Salmonella* Typhimurium in ground pork. Mohan and Pohlman (2016) used 0.2 g/L peroxyacetic acid or 30 g/L of other organic acids (pyruvic acid, fumaric acid, malic acid, and capric acid) on beef trimming for 15 s and found that organic acids (1.8-log reduction) had greater efficacy in than peroxyacetic acid (0.7-log reduction). The efficacy of organic acids depends on the time, concentration, and temperature (Snijders et al., 1985). Organic acids, such as acetic or citric acids, exhibit greater antibacterial activity at 35°C than at room temperature. Moreover, acidic treatment at an elevated temperature of 50 to 55°C has been reported to be even more efficient than at 35°C in reducing bacteria (Anderson et al., 1988). Therefore, understanding the modes of action of organic acids are important for improving pork safety while maintaining a clean-label approach to food safety.

Antimicrobial modes of action of organic acids

Organic acids affect microbial activity by two mechanisms, either cytoplasmic acidification associated with uncoupling of energy production or the accumulation of dissociated acid anion in the microbial cytoplasm at a toxic level (Taylor et al., 2012). Freese, Sheu, & Galliers, (1978) stated that the general mechanism of action of organic acids is the uncoupling of electron transport from oxidative respiration. Organic acids cause injury to the bacterial cells by altering the transmembrane proton gradient of the microbial cells, resulting in changing the nutrient transportation and energy generation. Low pH also damages cellular macromolecules and induces cellular damages (Wheeler et al., 2004). The undissociated form of organic acid diffuse through the microbial cell membrane when the pH of the cellular cytoplasm is higher than that of the surrounding environment. Active transportation is required to efflux protons (H⁺) to maintain internal pH, which requires more energy from the bacterial cells. Moreover, acidic pH in the



internal cell causes damages in genetic materials, enzymes, and protein structures, which leads to cellular death (Mani-López, 2012). The evidence for this mode of action is that Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus bulgaricus, and Streptococcus thermophiles produce lactic acid in food spoilage (FDA, 2015) and limit the growth of other bacteria because the environmental pH is altered (Jones et al., 2008). However, Salmonella can adjust to unfavorable environments, especially with an acidic environment, under stressful conditions. Salmonella increases the expression of genes, including rpoS, nlpD, and clpP, that help it develop acidic tolerance behavior (Burin, Silve Jr, and Nero, 2014). These genes protect Salmonella from acidic stress conditions (Foster, 2001). Some resistance can also occur when organic acids are used inappropriately because the efficacy of organic acids depends on their pH, concentration, and dissociation of anions. If the treatments are not optimal or below lethal conditions, bacteria can develop resistance by adapting to such conditions (Foster & Hall, 1990). Salmonella, when being exposed to an acid pH, can additionally produce approximately 50 acid shock proteins (ASP) to repair the damaged cells (Bearson & Foster, 1997; Foster, 1995). For example, Salmonella Typhimurium, during extreme pH conditions, produces several amino acids and proteins such as RpoS, Fur, and PhoP to maintain homeostasis in unfavorable pH conditions (Bearson & Foster, 1997). Compared to other strains of Salmonella, Salmonella Typhimurium exhibits more efficient adaptation to an acidic environment (Álvarez-Ordóñez et al., 2009). This ability of Salmonella is a great concern to the meat industry because it may be responsible for the development of acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* in normally a lethal stress environment (Tosun & Gonul, 2003). Peroxyacetic acid or peracetic acid is a combination of acetic acid, hydrogen peroxide, and water. This organic acid causes oxidation of the outer membrane of the Salmonella cells through the release of reactive oxygen species (Liberti & Notarnicola, 1999),



leading to the destruction of chemiosmotic functions of the lipoproteins in the bacterial cell membrane. This mode of action alters the transport of essential compounds and leads to the damages of the cell wall (Baldry & Fraser, 1988). However, King et al. (2005) found that the concentration of peroxyacetic acid up to 600 ppm did not reduce *Salmonella* when sprayed on beef carcass. In contrast, Ellebracht et al. (2005) found a reduction of 1 log of Salmonella when beef trimming was submerged in peroxyacetic acid of 200 ppm or 500 ppm. Acetic acid is another weak organic acid that is frequently used in the beef industry to minimize the risk of E. coli (Theron & Lues, 2007). The mechanism of action of acetic acid is similar to other organic acids in which undissociated acid molecules easily enter the cell cytoplasm and dissociate into anions and protons, both of which exert an inhibitory effect on the metabolism of bacteria. Acetic acid inhibits DNA synthesis in the bacterial cells that further causes cellular depletion due to the release of the undissociated acid molecule (Tan et al., 2015). Recent scanning and transmission electron microscopic images obtained in our laboratories indicated severe damages to the cellular membrane of Salmonella treated with 3% acetic acid at 50°C for 45 to 75 s. These organic acids and other treatments to reduce Salmonella, however, may have negative impacts on the quality attributes of pork, especially the trimmings. Therefore, an evaluation of meat quality is important to determine the applicability of these antimicrobial agents in pork production.

Effects of decontamination technologies on pork quality

The quality of a meat product is related to its color, eating satisfaction, and perceived freshness (Sionek et al., 2016). Meat color, water holding capacity, oxidative status, and fat content decides pork quality (Rosenvold & Anderson, 2003). Decontamination technologies discussed above are effective in reducing bacteria in both pre- and post-harvest operations; however, the impact of decontamination technologies on pork quality attributes needs to be evaluated. Quality



of meat not only depends on decontamination technologies but also on other factors such as feeding, stress during transport, handling, etc. (Dvorak et al., 2020). Both pH and temperature also have a significant role in meat quality development (Gardner et al., 2006). Low pH can lead to paler color, softer meat, and exudation of moisture. High temperature can lead to protein denaturation and loss of water-holding capacity (Deng et al., 2002). Unfortunately, low pH and warm temperatures are effective antimicrobial conditions. Scalding is a primary decontamination stage to reduce bacteria from pork carcasses. High-temperature scalding can drastically affect the quality of pork because of protein denaturation (Kauffman et al., 1969). However, Van der Wal et al. (1993) did not find any negative effects of scalding at 60°C for 5.5 to 7.5 min on pork quality. These authors attributed such findings to the minimal thermal conductivity of subcutaneous fat on the pork carcasses. However, it is suggested to reduce the time of carcass in the scalding tank and monitor the temperature of scalding water for an effective scalding operation (Gardner et al., 2006). Monin et al. (1995) reported that the singeing of carcass also did not affect pork quality negatively. Carcass chilling is important to improve pork quality, in addition to improving pork safety. Chilling of carcasses as early as possible after slaughter reduces carcass temperature, which slows down the metabolic processes and reduces the rate of pH decline. Moreover, chilling improves the color and tenderness of meat (Huff-Lonergan et al., 2001). On the other hand, numerous studies suggested the use of ultraviolet light or pulsed light, although effective as antimicrobial agents for carcass decontamination, damages the meat quality by increasing oxidation of lipid and myoglobin and negatively affecting the oxidative stability, color, and structural characteristics of meat (Wambura & Verghese, 2011). The application of organic acid is effective in reducing the microbial population; however, the concentration, duration, and temperature are important factors to be considered while using organic acids to



protect the meat quality (Mohan et al., 2012). Organic acids are weak acids having low pH (Theron & Lues, 2007). Low pH can negatively affect meat quality, such as causing the hydrolysis of triglycerides and increasing lipid oxidation by liberating fatty acids from triglycerides through lipolysis, leading to hydrolytic rancidity of meat (Jamilah et al., 2008). In addition, a decline in pH less than the isoelectric point of meat (5.4) can cause a decrease in the repulsion of myofilaments that decreases the myofilament lattice, causing denaturation of proteins (Lin & Chuang, 2001). Denatured proteins are less soluble and hold less water that leads to a decrease in the water holding capacity (WHC) of meat (Li et al., 2018). Low pH affects meat color by inducing the denaturation of MMb, making it insensitive to the metmyoglobin reductases (Zhu & Brewer, 2002). Metmyoglobin reductases are essential for converting MMb to DMb for subsequent oxygenation of DMb to OMb, which provides bright red color to the meat. More MMb causes browning of the meat, which is unacceptable to consumers. Castelo et al. (2000) used a combination of hot water at 65°C with 2% lactic acid for 120 s and found this method to be effective in decontaminating meat. However, for long exposure times, it negatively affected the color and emulsion stability of the ground pork. In contrast, Fu, Sebranek & Murano, (1994) sprayed 1.5% acetic, citric, or lactic acid on pork carcass. The authors found no difference in pH, lipid oxidation, color, and sensory attributes compared with the control samples after treatment. Similarly, Anthappan et al. (2001) observed no change in color or organoleptic characters in pork carcass when a combination of 3% lactic acid and propionic acid was sprayed. Shrestha & Min (2006) applied 4 or 6% lactic acid on fresh pork and found a significant decline in pH (0.4 unit less) and more lipid oxidation (0.6 mg MDA/kg) of the treated pork compared to control pork (0.4 mg MDA/kg). Similarly, Kim et al. (2004) observed greater lipid oxidation (0.36 mg MDA/kg) compared to control (0.04 mg MDA/kg) when a combination of 3 kGy


electron beam irradiation and 2% acetic acid applied on the pork loins. However, the authors found no difference in lipid oxidation when 2% of acetic acid sprayed on pork loins. Recently, Pohlman et al. (2019) sprayed beef trimmings with novel organic acids such as 3% octanoic, pyruvic, or malic acids along with 0.2% peroxyacetic acid as decontaminating agents. The treatment was effective in reducing bacteria without causing a difference in instrumental color compared to the control trimming.

Conclusion

The fundamental principles for controlling *Salmonella* in the pork industry are through maintaining proper sanitation and hygienic processing during slaughter and fabrication. However, a hurdle approach is recommended in commercial operations to minimize *Salmonella* risk, using the previously discussed decontamination technologies. Current industry practice places most interventions during animal harvest. Safety interventions for pork trimmings are limited. Hence, it is necessary to apply additional interventions during further processing. Organic acids are widely accepted as effective antimicrobial agents to reduce *Salmonella* in meat. To maximize efficacy and protect the pork quality, concentration, duration, and temperature of the organic acid application must be carefully controlled. It is challenging to develop a chemical decontamination agent that can be applied directly into meat products without negatively affecting the color and organoleptic properties.



REFERENCES

- Alvarez-Ordóñez, A., Fernández, A., Bernardo, A., & López, M. (2009). Comparison of acids on the induction of an acid tolerance response in Salmonella typhimurium, consequences for food safety. Meat Science, 81(1), 65-70.
- Anderson, M. E., Huff, H. E., Naumann, H. D., & Marshall, R. T. (1988). Counts of six types of bacteria on lamb carcasses dipped or sprayed with acetic acid at 25 or 55 C and stored vacuum packaged at 0 C. Journal of food protection, 51(11), 874-877.
- Anthappan, P. D., Pathare, N. S., & Sherikar, A. T. (2001). Spray washes of organic acids to decontaminate pork carcass tissues in India.
- Andres, V. M., & Davies, R. H. (2015). Biosecurity measures to control Salmonella and other infectious agents in pig farms: a review. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 14(4), 317-335.
- Antunes, P., Mourão, J., Campos, J., & Peixe, L. (2016). Salmonellosis: the role of poultry meat. Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 22(2), 110-121.
- Arguello, H., Alvarez-Ordonez, A., Carvajal, A., Rubio, P., & Prieto, M. (2013). Role of slaughtering in Salmonella spreading and control in pork production. Journal of food protection, 76(5), 899-911.
- Hill, A. A., Simons, R. L., Swart, A. N., Kelly, L., Hald, T., & Snary, E. L. (2016). Assessing the Effectiveness of On-Farm and Abattoir Interventions in Reducing Pig Meat–Borne Salmonellosis within the E.U. Member States. Risk Analysis, 36(3), 546-560.
- Baer, A. A., Miller, M. J., & Dilger, A. C. (2013). Pathogens of interest to the pork industry: a review of research on interventions to assure food safety. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 12(2), 183-217.
- Badvela, M. K., Dickson, J. S., Sebranek, J. G., & Schroeder, W. D (2016). Effect of buffered propionic acid against Salmonella Typhimurium inoculated by two different methods in ground pork. Efficacy of buffered propionic acid against Salmonella Typhimurium in ground pork stored at 4Ã ÂC and 10Â ÂC and inhibition of Listeria monocytogenes by buffered dry vinegar in ready-to-eat uncured turkey stored at 4Ã ÂC, 45.
- Baldry, M. G. C. (1988). Disinfection with peroxygens. Industrial biocides; Critical reports on applied chemistry, 23, 91-116.
- Barba, F. J., Ahrné, L., Xanthakis, E., Landerslev, M. G., & Orlien, V. (2018). Innovative technologies for food preservation. Innovative Technologies for Food Preservation (pp. 25-51). Academic Press.
- Bearson, S., Bearson, B., & Foster, J. W. (1997). Acid stress responses in enterobacteria. FEMS microbiology letters, 147(2), 173-180.



- Belluco, S., Barco, L., Roccato, A., & Ricci, A. (2015). Variability of Escherichia coli and Enterobacteriaceae counts on pig carcasses: A systematic review. Food Control, 55, 115-126.
- Bakhtiary, F., Sayevand, H. R., Remely, M., Hippe, B., Hosseini, H., & Haslberger, A. G. (2016). Evaluation of bacterial contamination sources in meat production line. Journal of food quality, 39(6), 750-756.
- Biasino, W., De Zutter, L., Mattheus, W., Bertrand, S., Uyttendaele, M., & Van Damme, I. (2018). Correlation between slaughter practices and the distribution of Salmonella and hygiene indicator bacteria on pig carcasses during slaughter. Food Microbiology, 70, 192-199.
- Blagojevic, B., Antic, D., Ducic, M., & Buncic, S. (2011). The ratio between carcass-and skinmicroflora as an abattoir process hygiene indicator. Food Control, 22(2), 186-190.
- Bolton, D. J., Pearce, R. A., Sheridan, J. J., Blair, I. S., McDowell, D. A., & Harrington, D. (2002). Washing and chilling as critical control points in pork slaughter hazard analysis and critical control point (HACCP) systems. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 92(5), 893-902.
- Bolton, D. J., Pearce, R., Sheridan, J. J., McDowell, D. A., & Blair, I. S. (2003). Decontamination of pork carcasses during scalding and the prevention of Salmonella cross-contamination. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 94(6), 1036-1042.
- Bonardi, S. (2017). Salmonella in the pork production chain and its impact on human health in the European Union. Epidemiology & Infection, 145(8), 1513-1526.
- Bonardi, S., Alpigiani, I., Bruini, I., Barilli, E., Brindani, F., Morganti, M., ... & Pongolini, S. (2016). Detection of Salmonella enterica in pigs at slaughter and comparison with human isolates in Italy. International journal of food microbiology, 218, 44-50.
- Bonardi, S., Bruini, I., Alpigiani, I., Vismarra, A., Barilli, E., Brindani, F., ... & Pongolini, S. (2016). Influence of pigskin on Salmonella contamination of pig carcasses and cutting lines in an Italian slaughterhouse. Italian journal of food safety, 5(2).
- Brandt, P., & Aaslyng, M. D. (2015). Welfare measurements of finishing pigs on the day of slaughter: A review. Meat Science, 103, 13-23.
- Brunette, G. W. (2017). CDC yellow book 2018: health information for international travel. Oxford University Press.
- Buncic, S. (2006). Integrated food safety and veterinary public health. CABI.
- Buncic, S., & Sofos, J. (2012). Interventions to control Salmonella contamination during poultry, cattle, and pig slaughter. Food research international, 45(2), 641-655.



- Burin, R. C. K., Silva Jr, A., & Nero, L. A. (2014). Influence of lactic acid and acetic acid on Salmonella spp. growth and expression of acid tolerance-related genes. Food research international, 64, 726-732.
- De Busser, E. V., De Zutter, L., Dewulf, J., Houf, K., & Maes, D. (2013). Salmonella control in live pigs and at slaughter. The Veterinary Journal, 196(1), 20-27.
- Duc, H. M., Son, H. M., Honjoh, K. I., & Miyamoto, T. (2018). Isolation and application of bacteriophages to reduce Salmonella contamination in raw chicken meat. LWT, 91, 353-360.
- Dvořák, P., Beňová, K., Máté, D., Tomko, M., & Doležalová, J. (2020). Pork meat quality after exposure to low (0.5 Gy) dose of gamma radiation. Acta Veterinaria Brno, 88(4), 481-486.
- Castelo, M. M., Kang, D. H., Siragusa, G. R., Koohmaraie, M., & Berry, E. D. (2001). Evaluation of combination treatment processes for the microbial decontamination of pork trim. Journal of food protection, 64(3), 335-342.
- Carter, C. D., Parks, A., Abuladze, T., Li, M., Woolston, J., Magnone, J., ... & Sulakvelidze, A. (2012). Bacteriophage cocktail significantly reduces Escherichia coli O157: H7 contamination of lettuce and beef but does not protect against recontamination. Bacteriophage, 2(3), 178-185.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2017. Salmonella homepage https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/pdf/salmonella-atlas-508c.pdf, Accessed on Apr. 20, 2020
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2019. Salmonella homepage. https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/index.html. Accessed on Feb 1, 2020
- Chang, V. P., Mills, E. W., & Cutter, C. N. (2003). Comparison of recovery methods for freezeinjured Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella Typhimurium, and Campylobacter coli in cell suspensions and associated with pork surfaces. Journal of food protection, 66(5), 798-803.
- Choi, Y. M., et al. "Combined effect of organic acids and supercritical carbon dioxide treatments against nonpathogenic Escherichia coli, Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella typhimurium, and E. coli O157: H7 in fresh pork." Letters in applied microbiology 49.4 (2009): 510-515.
- Christiansen, P., Krag, R., & Aabo, S. (2009). Effect of hot water and lactic acid decontamination on Escherichia coli, Salmonella Typhimurium, and Yersinia enterocolitica on pork.



- Code of Federal Regulations, USDA, https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/b0790997-2e74-48bf-9799-85814bac9ceb/28_IM_PR_Sal_Campy.pdf?MOD=AJPERES, Accessed on May 2, 2020.
- Corbellini, L. G., Júnior, A. B., de Freitas Costa, E., Duarte, A. S. R., Albuquerque, E. R., Kich, J. D., ... & Nauta, M. (2016). Effect of slaughterhouse and day of sample on the probability of a pig carcass being Salmonella-positive according to the Enterobacteriaceae count in the largest Brazilian pork production region. International journal of food microbiology, 228, 58-66.
- Davies, R. H., & Wray, C. (1996). Seasonal variations in the isolation of Salmonella typhimurium, Salmonella enteritidis, Bacillus cereus and Clostridium perfringens from environmental samples. Journal of Veterinary Medicine, Series B, 43(1-10), 119-127.
- Delhalle, L., De Sadeleer, L., Bollaerts, K., Farnir, F., Saegerman, C., Korsak, N., ... & Daube, G. (2008). Risk factors for Salmonella and hygiene indicators in the 10 largest Belgian pig slaughterhouses. Journal of food protection, 71(7), 1320-1329.
- Deng, Y., Rosenvold, K., Karlsson, A. H., Horn, P., Hedegaard, J., Steffensen, C. L., & Andersen, H. J. (2002). Relationship between thermal denaturation of porcine muscle proteins and water-holding capacity. Journal of Food Science, 67(5), 1642-1647.
- Dickson, J. S., & Acuff, G. R. (2017). Maintaining the safety and quality of beef carcass meat.57(2), 297-301.
- D'souza, D. N., Dunshea, F. R., Warner, R. D., & Leury, B. J. (1998). The effect of handling preslaughter and carcass processing rate post-slaughter on pork quality. Meat Science, 50(4), 429-437.
- Duffy, E. A., Belk, K. E., Sofos, J. N., Bellinger, G. R., Pape, A., & Smith, G. C. (2001). Extent of microbial contamination in United States pork retail products. Journal of food protection, 64(2), 172-178.
- Casanova-Higes, A., Andrés-Barranco, S., & Mainar-Jaime, R. C. (2017). Influence of On-farm pig Salmonella status on Salmonella Shedding at Slaughter. Zoonoses and public health, 64(5), 328-336.
- Economic Research Service, USDA 2019, https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/livestock-meat-domestic-data/livestock-meat-domestic. Accessed on May 1, 2020.
- Economic Research Service, USDA 2019, https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/animalproducts/hogs-pork/sector-at-a-glance/#Loc1. Accessed on May 1, 2020.
- Economic Research Service, USDA 2014, https://www.ers.usda.gov/amberwaves/2014/januaryfebruary/productivity-growth-slows-for-specialized-hog-finishingoperations, Accessed on May 2, 2020.



- Eggenberger-Solorzano, L., Niebuhr, S. E., Acuff, G. R., & Dickson, J. S. (2002). Hot water and organic acid interventions to control microbiological contamination on hog carcasses during processing. Journal of food protection, 65(8), 1248-1252.
- Ellebracht, J. W., King, D. A., Castillo, A., Lucia, L. M., Acuff, G. R., Harris, K. B., & Savell, J. W. (2005). Evaluation of peroxyacetic acid as a potential pre-grinding treatment for control of Escherichia coli O157: H7 and Salmonella Typhimurium on beef trimmings. Meat science, 70(1), 197-203.
- Endersen, L., O'Mahony, J., Hill, C., Ross, R. P., McAuliffe, O., & Coffey, A. (2014). Phage therapy in the food industry. Annual review of food science and technology, 5, 327-349.
- Eng, S. K., Pusparajah, P., Ab Mutalib, N. S., Ser, H. L., Chan, K. G., & Lee, L. H. (2015). Salmonella: a review on pathogenesis, epidemiology, and antibiotic resistance. Frontiers in Life Science, 8(3), 284-293.
- Epling, L. K., Carpenter, J. A., & Blankenship, L. C. (1993). Prevalence of Campylobacter spp. and Salmonella spp. on pork carcasses and the reduction effected by spraying with lactic acid. Journal of Food Protection, 56(6), 536-537.
- Evangelopoulou, G., Kritas, S., Christodoulopoulos, G., & Burriel, A. R. (2015). The commercial impact of pig Salmonella spp. infections in border-free markets during an economic recession. Veterinary world, 8(3), 257.
- FAO (2004). Control system for processing operations. Good Practice for the Meat Industry (pp. 3–8). Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- FDA, U.S. Food & Drug Administration (2006). Food additives permitted for direct addition to food for human consumption, bacteriophage preparation. https://www.fda.gov/OHRMS/DOCKETS/98fr/cf0559.pdf. (Accessed Feb1).
- Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 2017. GRAS Substances (SCOGS) Database. Accessed at https://www.fda.gov/Food/IngredientsPackagingLabeling/GRAS/SCOGS/default.htm, accessed on Nov 14, 2019.
- Fois, F., Piras, F., Torpdahl, M., Mazza, R., Consolati, S. G., Spanu, C., ... & De Santis, E. P. (2017). Occurrence, characterization, and antimicrobial susceptibility of Salmonella enterica in slaughtered pigs in Sardinia. Journal of food science, 82(4), 969-976.Szymańska, E. J. (2017). The development of the pork market in the world in terms of globalization. J. Agribus. Rural Development, 4(46), 843-50.
- Fedorka-Cray, P. J., Kelley, L. C., Stabel, T. J., Gray, J. T., & Laufer, J. A. (1995). Alternate routes of invasion may affect the pathogenesis of Salmonella typhimurium in swine. Infection and Immunity, 63(7), 2658-2664.



- Foley, S. L., Lynne, A. M., & Nayak, R. (2008). Salmonella challenges: prevalence in swine and poultry and potential pathogenicity of such isolates. Journal of animal science, 86(suppl_14), E149-E162.
- Foster, J. W. (1995). Low pH adaptation and the acid tolerance response of Salmonella typhimurium. Critical reviews in microbiology, 21(4), 215-237.
- Foster, J. W., & Hall, H. K. (1990). Adaptive acidification tolerance response of Salmonella typhimurium. Journal of bacteriology, 172(2), 771-778.
- Freese, E., Sheu, C. W., & Galliers, E. (1973). Function of lipophilic acids as antimicrobial food additives. Nature, 241(5388), 321-325.
- F.U., A. H., Sebranek, J. G., & Murano, E. A. (1994). Microbial and quality characteristics of pork cuts from carcasses treated with sanitizing sprays. Journal of food science, 59(2), 306-309.
- Gardner, M. A., E. Huff-Lonergan, L. J. Rowe, C. M. Schultz-Kaster, and S. M. Lonergan. 2006. Influence of harvest processes on pork loin and ham quality. J. Anim. Sci.84:178–184.
- Gonzalez, M., Lainez, M., Vega, S., Ingresa-Capaccioni, S., Marco-Jimenez, F., & Marin, C. (2015). Sources for Salmonella contamination during pig production in Eastern Spain. Journal of Animal and Veterinary Sciences, 2(5), 37-42.
- Gotter, V., Klein, G., Koesters, S., Kreienbrock, L., Blaha, T., & Campe, A. (2012). Main risk factors for Salmonella-infections in pigs in north-western Germany. Preventive veterinary medicine, 106(3-4), 301-307.
- González Santamarina, B. (2019). Salmonella carried over by pigs during transport and lairage (Doctoral dissertation).
- Goumon, S., & Faucitano, L. (2017). Influence of loading handling and facilities on the subsequent response to pre-slaughter stress in pigs. Livestock Science, 200, 6-13.
- Gray, J. T., & Fedorka-Cray, P. J. (2001). Survival and infectivity of Salmonella choleraesuis in swine feces. Journal of food protection, 64(7), 945-949.
- Guo, S., Huang, R., & Chen, H. (2017). Application of water-assisted ultraviolet light in combination of chlorine and hydrogen peroxide to inactivate Salmonella on fresh produce. International journal of food microbiology, 257, 101-109.
- Gutzmann, T. A., Anderson, B. J., Reed, P. J., Cords, B. R., Grab, L. A., & Richardson, E. H. (2011). U.S. Patent No. 8,043,650. Washington, DC: U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.
- Hald, T., Wingstrand, A., Swanenburg, M., von Altrock, A., Limpitakis, N. C., & Thorberg, B. M. (1999). Harvest epidemiology of Salmonella contamination in E.U. pig slaughterhouses.



- Hashem, F., & Parveen, S. (2016). Salmonella and Campylobacter: Antimicrobial resistance and bacteriophage control in poultry. Food microbiology, 53, 104-109.
- Hinton, M. H., & Corry, J. E. L. (1999). The decontamination of carcass meat. Poultry meat science, 25, 285-295.
- Houf, K. (2012). Control of Salmonella in pigs. WIENER TIERARZTLICHE MONATSSCHRIFT, 99(11-12), 278-285.
- Huff-Lonergan, E., & Page, J. (2001). The role of carcass chilling in the development of pork quality. National Pork Producers Council.
- Hugas, M., & Beloeil, P. A. (2014). Controlling Salmonella along the food chain in the European Union-progress over the last ten years. Eurosurveillance, 19(19), 20804.
- Jahid, I. K., & Ha, S. D. (2012). A review of microbial biofilms of produce: future challenge to food safety. Food Science and Biotechnology, 21(2), 299-316.
- James, S.J., Purnell, G., Wkilkin, C.A., Howell, M., and James, C. 2007. Sources of Salmonella contamination in pig processing. Food Refrigeration and Process Engineering Research Centre (FRPERC), University of Bristol, Churchill Building, Langford, BS40 5 D.U., U.K.
- Jay, J. M. (2000). Modern Food Microbiology. 6th Edit. An ASPEN Publication. Gaithersburg, Maryland.
- Jones, R. J., Hussein, H. M., Zagorec, M., Brightwell, G., & Tagg, J. R. (2008). Isolation of lactic acid bacteria with inhibitory activity against pathogens and spoilage organisms associated with fresh meat. Food Microbiology, 25(2), 228-234.
- Kang, D. H., Koohmaraie, M., Dorsa, W. J., & Siragusa, G. R. (2001). Development of a multiple-step process for the microbial decontamination of beef trim. Journal of food protection, 64(1), 63-71.
- Kauffman, R. G., B. C., Breidenstein, D. Garrigan, and Q. E. Kolb. 1969. Meat Quality: An explanation for educators/processors/retailers/producers.
- Key, N. (2014). Production Contracts May Help Small Hog Farms Grow in Size. Amber Waves, 1G.
- Key, N., & McBride, W. D. (2007). The changing economics of U.S. hog production. USDA-ERS Economic Research Report (52).
- Kim, B. H., Jang, A., Lee, S. O., Min, J. S., & Lee, M. (2004). Combined effect of electron-beam (beta) irradiation and organic acids on shelf life of pork loins during cold storage. Journal of food protection, 67(1), 168-171.



- Koch, F., Wiacek, C., & Braun, P. G. (2019). Pulsed light treatment for the reduction of Salmonella Typhimurium and Yersinia enterocolitica on pork skin and pork loin. International journal of food microbiology, 292, 64-71.
- Kumar, A., Allison, A., Henry, M., Scales, A., & Fouladkhah, A. C. (2019). Development of Salmonellosis as Affected by Bioactive Food Compounds. Microorganisms, 7(9), 364.
- Kreuzer, S., Machnowska, P., Aßmus, J., Sieber, M., Pieper, R., Schmidt, M. F., ... & Johne, R. (2012). Feeding of the probiotic bacterium Enterococcus faecium NCIMB 10415 differentially affects shedding of enteric viruses in pigs. Veterinary research, 43(1), 58.
- Lawson, L. G., Jensen, J. D., Christiansen, P., & Lund, M. (2009). Cost-effectiveness of Salmonella reduction in Danish abattoirs. International journal of food microbiology, 134(1-2), 126-132.
- Li, Y., Cai, Y., Tao, J., Kang, X., Jiao, Y., Guo, R., ... & Jiao, X. (2016). Salmonella isolated from the slaughterhouses and correlation with pork contamination in free market. Food Control, 59, 591-600.
- Liberti, L., & Notarnicola, M. (1999). Advanced treatment and disinfection for municipal wastewater reuse in agriculture. Water Science and technology, 40(4-5), 235-245.
- Loretz, M., Stephan, R., & Zweifel, C. (2011). Antibacterial activity of decontamination treatments for cattle hides and beef carcasses. Food Control, 22(3-4), 347-359.
- Lusk, J. L. (2013). Role of technology in the global economic importance and viability of animal protein production. Animal Frontiers, 3(3), 20-27.
- Maes, D., Gibson, K. J., Trigo, E., Szaszák, Á., Grass, J. J., Carlson, A. C., & Blaha, T. G. (2001). Evaluation of cross-protection afforded by a Salmonella Choleraesuis vaccine against Salmonella infections in pigs under field conditions.
- Mahendran, R., Ramanan, K. R., Barba, F. J., Lorenzo, J. M., López-Fernández, O., Munekata, P. E., ... & Tiwari, B. K. (2019). Recent advances in the application of pulsed light processing for improving food safety and increasing shelf life. Trends in food science & technology.
- Mahony, J., McAuliffe, O., Ross, R. P., & Van Sinderen, D. (2011). Bacteriophages as biocontrol agents of food pathogens. Current opinion in biotechnology, 22(2), 157-163.
- Mani-López, E., García, H. S., & López-Malo, A. (2012). Organic acids as antimicrobials to control Salmonella in meat and poultry products. Food Research International, 45(2), 713-721.
- Maples, J. G., Lusk, J. L., & Peel, D. S. (2019). Technology and evolving supply chains in the beef and pork industries. Food Policy, 83, 346-354.



- Martínez-Chávez, L., Cabrera-Diaz, E., Pérez-Montaño, J. A., Garay-Martínez, L. E., Varela-Hernández, J. J., Castillo, A., ... & Martínez-Gonzáles, N. E. (2015). Quantitative distribution of Salmonella spp. and Escherichia coli on beef carcasses and raw beef at retail establishments. International journal of food microbiology, 210, 149-155.
- Mir, S. A., & Masoodi, F. A. (2018). Use of organic acids for preservation and safety of traditional meat products. Journal of Food Safety, 38(6), e12514.
- Mohan, A., Pohlman, F. W., McDaniel, J. A., & Hunt, M. C. (2012). Role of peroxyacetic acid, octanoic acid, malic acid, and potassium lactate on the microbiological and instrumental color characteristics of ground beef. Journal of food science, 77(4), M188-M193.
- Møller, C. O. A., Sant'Ana, A. D. S., Hansen, S. K. H., Nauta, M. J., Silva, L. P., Alvarenga, V. O., ... & Aabo, S. (2016). Evaluation of a cross-contamination model describing the transfer of Salmonella spp. and Listeria monocytogenes during grinding of pork and beef. International journal of food microbiology, 226, 42-52.
- Momin, K. M., Milton, A. A. P., Ghatak, S., Thomas, S. C., Priya, G. B., Das, S., ... & Sen, A. (2020). Development of a novel and rapid polymerase spiral reaction (PSR) assay to detect Salmonella in pork and pork products. Molecular and Cellular Probes, 101510.
- National Pork Board, 2020, https://www.pork.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/2019-Annual-Report.pdf, Accessed on May 1, 2020
- National Pork Board, 2019, https://www.pork.org/facts/stats/u-s-pork-exports/world-per-capitapork-consumption, Accessed on May 1, 2020
- Nowak, B., Mueffling, T. V., & Hartung, J. (2007). Effect of different carbon dioxide concentrations and exposure times in stunning of slaughter pigs: Impact on animal welfare and meat quality. Meat Science, 75(2), 290-298.
- OECD, 2016. Meat Consumption (Indicator). OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook. Http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/fa290fd0-en.Accessed on May 1, 2020.
- Prendergast, D. M., Duggan, S. J., Fanning, S., Cormican, M., Gonzales-Barron, U., Butler, F., & Duffy, G. (2008). Prevalence and numbers of Salmonella spp. and Enterobacteriaceae on pork cuts in abattoirs in the Republic of Ireland. Journal of applied microbiology, 105(4), 1209-1219.
- Radford, D., Guild, B., Strange, P., Ahmed, R., Lim, L. T., & Balamurugan, S. (2017). Characterization of antimicrobial properties of Salmonella phage Felix O1 and Listeria phage A511 embedded in xanthan coatings on Poly (lactic acid) films. Food microbiology, 66, 117-128.
- Reid, R., Fanning, S., Whyte, P., Kerry, J., Lindqvist, R., Yu, Z., & Bolton, D. (2017). The microbiology of beef carcasses and primals during chilling and commercial storage. Food microbiology, 61, 50-57.



- Rosenvold, K., and H. J. Andersen. 2003. Factors of significance for pork quality—a review. Meat Sci.64:219–237.
- Rostagno, M. H., & Callaway, T. R. (2012). Pre-harvest risk factors for Salmonella enterica in pork production. Food Research International, 45(2), 634-640.
- Sanchez-Maldonado, A. F., Aslam, M., Service, C., Narváez-Bravo, C., Avery, B. P., Johnson, R., & Jones, T. H. (2017). Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of Salmonella isolated from two pork processing plants in Alberta, Canada. International journal of food microbiology, 241, 49-59.
- Savell, J. W., Mueller, S. L., & Baird, B. E. (2004). The chilling of carcasses. 50th ICoMST Helsinki.
- Schimel, J., Balser, T. C., & Wallenstein, M. (2007). Microbial stress-response physiology and its implications for ecosystem function. Ecology, 88(6), 1386-1394.
- Scott, M., Buchanan, S., Abdelmajid, N., Webb, J., Green, J., & Dolan, P. (2019, July). Food Safety and Inspection Service Nationwide Raw Pork Products Sampling Study. In IAFP 2019 Annual Meeting. IAFP.
- Self, J. L., Luna-Gierke, R. E., Fothergill, A., Holt, K. G., & Vieira, A. R. (2017). Outbreaks attributed to pork in the United States, 1998–2015. Epidemiology & Infection, 145(14), 2980-2990.
- Shrestha, S., & Min, Z. (2006). Effect of lactic acid pretreatment on the quality of fresh pork packed in modified atmosphere. Journal of Food Engineering, 72(3), 254-260.
- Sionek, B., & Przybylski, W. (2016). 3. The Impact of Ante-and Post-Mortem Factors on the Incidence of Pork Defective Meat–A Review. Annals of Animal Science, 16(2), 333-345.
- Snary, E. L., Swart, A. N., Simons, R. R., Domingues, A. R. C., Vigre, H., Evers, E. G., ... & Hill, A. A. (2016). A quantitative microbiological risk assessment for Salmonella in pigs for the European Union. Risk Analysis, 36(3), 437-449.
- Snijders, J. M. A., Van Logtestijn, J. G., Mossel, D. A. A., & Smulderst, F. J. M. (1985). Lactic acid as a decontaminant in slaughter and processing procedures. Veterinary Quarterly, 7(4), 277-282.
- Swart, A. N., Evers, E. G., Simons, R. L. L., & Swanenburg, M. (2016). Modeling of Salmonella contamination in the pig slaughterhouse. Risk Analysis, 36(3), 498-515.
- Szymańska, E. J. (2017). The development of the pork market in the world in terms of globalization. J. Agribus. Rural Development, 4(46), 843-50.



- Tan, S. M., Lee, S. M., & Dykes, G. A. (2015). Acetic acid induces pH-independent cellular energy depletion in Salmonella enterica. Foodborne pathogens and disease, 12(3), 183-189.
- Taylor, T. M., RolfJoerger, E. P., Lopez-Malo, A., Avila-Sosa, R., & Calix-Lara, T. (2012). 13 Alternatives to Traditional Antimicrobials for Organically Processed Meat and Poultry. Organic meat production and processing, 53.
- Theron, M. M., & Lues, J. F. (2007). Organic acids and meat preservation: a review. Food Reviews International, 23(2), 141-158.
- TOMOVIĆ, V. M., PETROVIĆ, L. S., JOKANOVIĆ, M. R., TOMOVIĆ, M. S., TASIĆ, T. A., IKONIĆ, P. M., & ŠUMIĆ, Z. M. (2011). Rapid chilling effect on the bacterial populations of pork carcasses. Romanian Biotechnological Letters, 16(6), 6767.
- TOSUN, H., & GÖNÜL, Ş. A. (2003). Acid adaptation protects Salmonella typhimurium from environmental stresses. Turkish Journal of Biology, 27(1), 31-36.
- FSIS, U. (1996). Pathogen reduction: hazard analysis and critical control point (HACCP) systems; final rule. Federal Register, 61, 38806-38989.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food Safety Inspection Services (USDA/FSIS).2019. Meats Recalls Pork Product Due to Possible Salmonella Contamination. Program. Accessed at https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/FSIS-Content/internet/main/topics/recallsand-public-health-alerts/recall-case-archive/archive/2019/recall-102-2019-release. Accessed on Jan. 17, 2020.
- U.S. department of agriculture, food safety services (USDA/FSIS). 2015. News release: kapowsin Meats Recalls Pork Product Due to Possible Salmonella Contamination. Program. Accessed at https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/recalls-andpublic-health-alerts/recall-case-archive/archive/2015/recall-110-2015-release-expansion. Accessed on Oct. 13, 2017.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food Safety Inspection Services (USDA/FSIS). 2017. Raw Pork Products Exploratory Sampling Program. Accessed at https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/data-collection-andreports/microbiology/special-sampling-projects/raw-pork-sampling. Accessed on Oct. 14, 2017.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food Safety Inspection Services (USDA/FSIS). 2018. Raw Pork Products Exploratory Sampling Program. Accessed at https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/data-collection-andreports/microbiology/special-sampling-projects/raw-pork-sampling. Accessed in May. 2, 2020.



- U.S. Department of agriculture, food safety services (USDA/FSIS). 2016. News release: Pork Rinds & Snacks, LLC Recalls Pork Skin Products Due to Possible Salmonella Contamination. Accessed at https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/recalls-andpublic-health-alerts/recall-case-archive/archive/2016/recall-110-2016-release-expansion. Accessed on Oct. 13, 2017.
- USDA (2016). Livestock and Poultry: World Markets and Trade World Production, Markets, and Trade Reports. Retrieved April 2nd, 2017 from http://www.fas.usda.gov/data/livestock-and-poultry-world-markets-and-trade
- USDA/FSIS, U.S. Dept. of Agriculture Food Safety and Inspection Service (2014). Food safety scientists double up on ground beef testing this summer https://www.usda.gov/media/blog/2014/05/16/food-safety-scientists-double-ground-beef-testing-summer, Accessed date: 24 September 2017.
- USDA-FSIS, United States Department of Agriculture, Food Safety, and Inspection Service (2011). Salmonella questions and answers. https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/food-safety-education/get-answers/foodsafety-fact-sheets/foodborne-illness-and-disease/salmonella/sa (Accessed in February 2020)
- USDA-FSIS, United States Department of Agriculture, Food Safety, and Inspection Service (2011). Salmonella questions and answers. https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/food-safety-education/get-answers/foodsafety-fact-sheets/foodborne-illness-and-disease/salmonella/sa (Accessed in February 2020).
- USDA-FSIS, United States Department of Agriculture, Food Safety, and Inspection Service. Performance standards. 2019. https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/b0790997-2e74-48bf-9799-85814bac9ceb/28_IM_PR_Sal_Campy.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Accessed on Feb 5, 2020.
- Van Ba, H., Seo, H. W., Seong, P. N., Kang, S. M., Cho, S. H., Kim, Y. S., ... & Kim, J. H. (2019). The fates of microbial populations on pig carcasses during the slaughtering process, on retail cuts after slaughter, and intervention efficiency of lactic acid spraying. International journal of food microbiology, 294, 10-17.
- Van der Wal, P. G., Van Beek, G., Veerkamp, C. H., & Wijngaards, G. (1993). The effect of scalding on subcutaneous and ham temperatures and ultimate pork quality. Meat science, 34(3), 395-402.
- Van Hoek, A. H., De Jonge, R., Van Overbeek, W. M., Bouw, E., Pielaat, A., Smid, J. H., ... & Aarts, H. J. (2012). A quantitative approach towards a better understanding of the dynamics of Salmonella spp. in a pork slaughter-line. International journal of food microbiology, 153(1-2), 45-52.



- Van Netten, P. J. H. J., int Veld, J. H., & Mossel, D. A. A. (1994). An in-vitro meat model for the immediate bactericidal effect of lactic acid decontamination on meat surfaces. Journal of Applied Bacteriology, 76(1), 49-54.
- Velarde, A., & Dalmau, A. (2018). Slaughter of pigs. In Advances in Pig Welfare (pp. 295-322). Woodhead Publishing.
- Vermeulen, L., Van de Perre, V., Permentier, L., De Bie, S., Verbeke, G., & Geers, R. (2015). Pre-slaughter handling and pork quality. Meat Science, 100, 118-123.
- Wall, S. K., Zhang, J., Rostagno, M. H., & Ebner, P. D. (2010). Phage therapy to reduce preprocessing Salmonella infections in market-weight swine. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 76(1), 48-53.
- Wambura, P., & Verghese, M. (2011). Effect of pulsed ultraviolet light on quality of sliced ham. LWT-Food Science and Technology, 44(10), 2173-2179.
- Wei, S., Chelliah, R., Rubab, M., Oh, D. H., Uddin, M. J., & Ahn, J. (2019). Bacteriophages as Potential Tools for Detection and Control of Salmonella spp. in Food Systems. Microorganisms, 7(11), 570.
- Wheeler, T. L., Kalchayanand, N., & Bosilevac, J. M. (2014). Pre-and post-harvest interventions to reduce pathogen contamination in the U.S. beef industry. Meat science, 98(3), 372-382.
- Wong, D. L. F., Hald, T., Van Der Wolf, P. J., & Swanenburg, M. (2002). Epidemiology and control measures for Salmonella in pigs and pork. Livestock Production Science, 76(3), 215-222.
- Yang, X., He, A., Badoni, M., Tran, F., & Wang, H. (2017). Mapping sources of contamination of Escherichia coli on beef in the fabrication facility of a commercial beef packing plant. Food Control, 75, 153-159.
- Yeh, Y., De Moura, F. H., Van Den Broek, K., & De Mello, A. S. (2018). Effect of ultraviolet light, organic acids, and bacteriophage on Salmonella populations in ground beef. Meat science, 139, 44-48.
- Young, M. (2005). Efficiency of pork production: a USA, Canada, and Ireland comparison.
- Zamora-Sanabria, R., & Alvarado, A. M. (2017). Preharvest Salmonella risk contamination and control strategies (pp. Pages-193). Rijeka, Croatia: InTechOpen.
- Zhu, A., Zhi, W., Qiu, Y., Wei, L., Tian, J., Pan, Z., ... & Duan, L. (2019). Surveillance study of the prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of Salmonella in pork from open markets in Xuzhou, China. Food control, 98, 474-480.



CHAPTER III

POST-HARVEST REDUCTION OF SALMONELLA IN PORK TRIMMING

Abstract

Pork trimming was dipped in 3% acetic acid to reduce *Salmonella*. For 15-s dipping and 5-log CFU/pork cube inoculation, only 0.2- to 0.3-log reduction was observed ($P \le 0.026$), but it was 1.3-log reduction (P = 0.001) at 8-log CFU/pork cube inoculation for bioluminescence imaging. Acetic acid worked best at 75 s and 50°C, providing 1.4-log reduction (P < 0.001), damaging *Salmonella* cell membranes. Without acetic acid, heat shock alone was ineffective (P > 0.200). When an inoculated pork cube was placed at the geometrical center of 2.3-kg pork trimming, dipping at 50°C for 75 s only reduced *Salmonella* by 0.2 log (P = 0.040). Although dipping slightly increased lightness (P < 0.001) and decreased redness ($P \le 0.008$) on the meat surface, no inside color change was detected (P = 0.120). Neither lipid oxidation (TBARS, P = 0.644), protein solubility (P = 0.187), nor water-holding capacity (P = 0.076) were affected by treatments.

Introduction

A growing number of outbreaks caused by human enteric pathogens is an increasing concern for pork processors and regulatory agencies because of their negative impacts on consumers' health and their trust in the U.S. food system (Self et al., 2017; Rostagno & Callaway, 2012). Despite both pre- and post-harvest critical control measures employed by commercial pork operations, approximately 240,858 kg of pork products (from the whole hog to pork trimming) were recalled



due to *Salmonella* contamination in 2016 (USDA/FSIS, 2016). The USDA/FSIS data from Raw Pork Products Exploratory Sampling Program Phase II from July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2017, showed a steady increase in *Salmonella* incidence rate in comminuted pork, from 21.24% in 2015 to more than 30.93% in 2017 (USDA/FSIS, 2017). These data indicate that additional antimicrobial treatment is needed to minimize post-harvest recurrence of *Salmonella* in pork trimming.

Decontamination methods in the meat industry include antimicrobials, steam pasteurization, hot water wash, steam vacuuming, singeing, ultraviolet light, and carcass chilling (Loretz et al., 2011). The pork industry mostly employs scalding, washing, and singeing (Rodríguez et al., 2018). Acid spraying or washing, have been extensively studied for both beef and poultry processing, whereas limited research has been conducted for pork processing (Britton, 2018). Most organic acids are designated by the FDA as generally recognized as safe (GRAS) for meat products (FDA, 2017). Both acetic and lactic acids are an inexpensive and effective intervention in the beef industry to reduce human enteric pathogens as applied on warm and cold carcass surfaces (Cutter and Rivera-Betancourt, 2000; Yoder et al., 2012). Antimicrobial interventions are normally applied during hog slaughter (Hendricks et al., 2018). Pork trimming production, typically the final step in pork fabrication, should be a critical control point of microbiological hazards (Castelo et al., 2001). Therefore, the objective of the current study was to determine the efficacy of 3% acetic acid in reducing *Salmonella* in pork trimming and the effects of such treatment on meat quality.



Materials and methods

Pork samples and reagents

Pork loin and pork trimming were purchased from a commercial purveyor. Pork loins were trimmed to remove the surrounding muscle, connective tissues, and external fat, leaving only the *longissimus* muscle. This muscle was then cut into 1.3-cm thick chops, which were further cut into 2.5 cm (L) \times 2.5 cm (W) \times 1.3 cm (H) cubes. The pork cubes were vacuum-packaged and stored in -20°C freezer until further experiments. Pork trimmings were further ground through a kidney plate to approximately 5-cm cubes and aliquoted into 2.3-kg chubs. The meat chubs were vacuum-packaged and stored similarly. These pork cubes and chubs were used in *Salmonella* reduction experiments. Additional pork loins were prepared similarly and cut into 14 1.3-cm thick chops. These chops were further cut laterally into 28 halves per loin to be used in meat quality experiments.

Distilled white vinegar (5% acetic acid; Great Value, Walmart, MS, USA) was purchased from a local grocery store and diluted with Millipore® filtered water to a concentration of 3% for further use in treatment application. *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium stock culture (ATCC[®]TM 14028TM) and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis stock culture (ATCC[®]TM 4931TM) were purchased from Thermo ScientificTM (MA, USA). Various microbiological supplies were Luria–Bertani (LB) powder (BD, NJ, USA), tryptic soy agar powder (Fisher Scientific, NH, USA) nalidixic acid sodium salt (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA), and buffered peptone water (BPW) and XLD agar (Thermo ScientificTM, MA, USA).



Chemical reagents purchased for testing meat quality attributes were 2,2'-Azino-bis(3ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt (ABTS), potassium persulfate, butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), 1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane (TMP), thiobarbituric acid (TBA), methanol, ethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA), trichloroacetic acid (TCA; Fisher Scientific, NH, USA), Coomassie blue reagent (Thermo ScientificTM, Waltham, MA, USA), bovine serum albumin (BSA; Thermo Scientific[™], Waltham, MA, USA). Radical ABTS+ was prepared by dissolving ABTS in water at 7 mM in 2.45 mM potassium persulfate and incubating solution for at least 6 h in the dark. This solution was further diluted to an absorbance of 0.8 to 0.85. Trichloroacetic acid (TCA) was prepared in 10% solution by adding 100 g of TCA in 1 L of Millipore[®] filtered water. Malondialdehyde standards were prepared by mixing 8.26 μ L of 1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane in 10 mL of 10% TCA. This solution was further diluted to a series of working standards of 0, 2.5, 5, 7.5, 10, 15, 20, 25 µM by 10% TCA. Butylated hydroxytoluene was prepared to 15,000 ppm by adding 0.75 g of BHT to 50 mL of ethanol. Thiobarbituric acid (TBA) in 10% TCA was prepared to 0.02 M by adding 0.288 g of TBA and 10 g of TCA in 100 mL of warm Millipore® filtered water.

Salmonella cultures and inocula

Nalidixic acid-resistant *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium (ATCC 14028) and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis (ATCC 4931) inoculum were prepared by successive overnight culture and selection in 10 mL TSB supplemented with sterile filtered (0.4 µm) nalidixic acid sodium salt in concentrations of 0 (control), 5, 15, 20, and 25 ppm until having a fully-grown culture (9 log CFU/mL) that is resistant to 25 ppm of nalidixic acid. Resistance was confirmed by streaking onto tryptic soy agar and XLD agar plates containing 25 ppm of nalidixic acid. Both nalidixic acid-resistant stock cultures were stored at -80°C freezer in TSB



supplemented with 20% glycerol. Prior to the experiment, the frozen culture was thawed, streaked onto XLD agar plates with 25 ppm of nalidixic acid, and incubated at 37°C for 24 h. An isolated colony from each culture was transferred to a culture tube containing 10 mL of TSB with 25 ppm of nalidixic acid and incubated at 37°C for 18 to 20 h. On the day of the experiment, *Salmonella* culture was serially diluted using 1% BPW to 6 log and used as inoculum. A cocktail *Salmonella* was also prepared by mixing *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis cultures in equal volumes in another culture tube. Both serotypes are the most isolated non-typhoidal *Salmonella* in pigs (Boyen et al., 2008). This cocktail culture was then serially diluted using 1% BPW to 6 log and used as inoculum.

Bioluminescent *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium (ATCC 14028) was constructed by electroporation of pXen5-luxCDABE (Caliper Life Sciences, Hopkinton, MA, USA) containing ampicillin-resistant gene into bacterial cells (Park et al., 2018). Colonies of successfully transformed *Salmonella* exhibiting bioluminescence were positively selected on LB-agar medium containing ampicillin (100 µg/mL). This bioluminescent *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium was cultured in LB broth at 37°C to 9 log CFU/mL and used as inoculum.

Pork sample inoculation

On the day of experiments, pork cubes were thawed at 2° C for 24 h. Pork cubes served as experimental units with one cube per treatment per replicate; therefore, the number of pork cubes were calculated as replicates × treatments for each experiment. Because bacteria proliferate, the pork cubes of the same replicates were inoculated quickly together, to minimize inoculum variation among treatments within a replicate that might be caused by the amount it took to



complete a round (replicate) of the experiments. Pork cubes were inoculated with 100 μ L of 6-log CFU/mL *Salmonella* inoculum prepared as described previously by spreading this volume evenly on the 2.5-cm surface of the pork cubes, resulting in 5 log CFU/pork cube. These inoculated pork cubes were stored at 4°C for 1 h to ensure bacterial attachment. For IVIS imaging, 100 μ L of 9-log CFU/mL lux-modified *Salmonella* inoculum was used, resulting in 8 log CFU/pork cube. To inoculate the 2.3-kg pork chub, a pork cube similarly inoculated with *Salmonella* cocktail (*Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis) at 5-log level was placed at the geometrical center of the chub and surrounded by non-inoculated pork pieces of the chub. The chub was placed in a perforated cylindrical canister (Better Homes & Gardens, Walmart, MS, USA) and shaken gently to ensure that meat pieces fit tightly together to create a simulation of a trimming bucket in the industry.

Salmonella enumeration and bioluminescent imaging

After treatment, pork cubes were retrieved and placed in a sterile Whirlpak® bag with 50 ml BPW and homogenized by gentle massaging for 2 min. A volume of 20 µL of the BPW was plated in duplicate onto XLD agar plates with 25-ppm nalidixic acid, and the plates were incubated at 37° C for 24 h. Black colonies with metallic sheen were counted as *Salmonella* colony-forming units (CFU). For bioluminescent imaging, pork cubes were retrieved and placed in a tissue culture plate for analysis using the In Vivo Imaging System (IVIS; Lumina XRMS Series III system, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA). Numbers of CFU (XLD plating method) or relative light units (RLU; IVIS imaging method) were converted to common logarithm (log). The difference by subtracting values of treated pork cubes from those of POS cubes were reported as log reduction. The NEG cubes were used to monitor background *Salmonella*.



Throughout all experiments, no background *Salmonella* was detected on 25-ppm nalidixic acid XLD agar plates.

Experiment 1: Effects of temperature on efficacy of 3% acetic acid in reducing Salmonella To preliminarily determine the effects of temperature on the efficacy of 3% acetic acid in Salmonella reduction, either a negative control (NEG), positive control (POS), 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC), or 3% acetic acid at 50°C (ACH) treatment was randomly assigned to a pork cube. Two inocula, 5-log inoculum of nalidixic acid-resistant Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium and 8-log inoculum of lux-modified Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium as described previously, were used. The NEG pork cube was not inoculated. The POS was inoculated but was not treated. The ACC and ACH cubes were inoculated immediately after the POS. At approximately the same time, ACC and ACH cubes were dipped in 100 mL of 3% acetic acid in a plastic cup (500 mL; Home Sense, Kroger, MS, USA) of either room temperature or 50°C, respectively, for 15 s. Cubes were subsequently removed from the cup and placed on a metal wire rack (Aleko, Walmart, MS, USA) for 1 min for dripping. The NEG cube and POS, ACC, and ACH cubes inoculated with at 5 log were extracted in BPW and prepared for plating as described previously; whereas the NEG cube and POS, ACC, and ACH cubes inoculated at 8 log were transferred to a tissue cell culture plate for bioluminescent imaging. This experiment was replicated five times.

Experiment 2: Effects of heat shock in reducing Salmonella

Two experiments using either inoculated pork cubes or *Salmonella* culture were conducted to determine the effects of heat shock in *Salmonella* reduction. For the first experiment, two inocula were used at 5 log and 8 log for plating and IVIS imaging, as previously described. Either NEG,



POS, cold-to-hot heat shock (HSC; dipping in ice-cold water and subsequently in 50°C water) or hot-to-cold heat shock (HSH; vice versa) treatment was randomly assigned to a pork cube. The HSC and HSH cubes were inoculated immediately after the POS cube. The HSC and HSH cubes were subsequently treated with 100 mL of ice-cold water and 100 mL of 50°C water in a plastic cup, each for 15 s according to their designated treatments. The cubes were then placed on a metal wire rack for 1 min to drip. The NEG, POS, and treated pork cubes were extracted in BPW for plating or in tissue culture plate for IVIS imaging. For the second experiment, 200 μ L of 6log nalidixic acid-resistant Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium was pipetted into a sterile 2-mL microcentrifuge tube to serve as either POS, HSC, or HSH. Ice-cold water was used for cold dipping, whereas 93°C water was used for hot dipping. Each HSC or HSH was dipped in ice-cold or hot water for 2 min according to their designated treatments. For the culture to reach 50°C, the dipping time was 2 min at a heating rate of 11.1°C/min. The temperature was monitored by a thermometer (Ematik, Walmart, MS, USA) placed in 200 µL of water. After the treatment, a volume of 20 µL from each tube was directly plated onto XLD agar. Both experiments were replicated five times. Samples of cold and warm water were also plated to evaluate the washout effect; however, most plates had no colonies and only a few plates had 1 to 5 colonies.

Experiment 3: Effects of temperature and dipping time on efficacy of 3% acetic acid in reducing *Salmonella*

In this experiment, pork cubes were treated with ACC and ACH for 15, 45, or 75 s, resulting in 8 treatments (ACC15, 45, and 75; ACH15, 45, and 75) including NEG and POS, which were randomly assigned to eight pork cubes prepared as described previously. Only a 5-log inoculum of nalidixic acid-resistant *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium was used. The ACC and



ACH cubes, as described previously, were inoculated and treated according to their designated treatments. The cubes were dipped in 100 mL of 3% acetic acid in a plastic cup of either room temperature (21°C) or 50°C, respectively, for 15, 45, or 75 s. They were then retrieved and allowed to drip on a metal wire rack for 1 min. After dripping, NEG, POS, and treated pork cubes were extracted in BPW for plating as described previously. This experiment was replicated ten times at three different trials, resulting in thirty replications.

Experiment 4: Efficacy of 3% acetic acid at 50°C in reducing *Salmonella* inoculated at the geometrical center of pork chubs

Either NEG, POS, 3% acetic acid dipping at 50°C without (ACH) or with shaking (ACHS) was randomly assigned to a pork chub prepared and inoculated as described previously. The *Salmonella* cocktail was used for inoculation. The ACH and ACHS chubs in perforated canisters were dipped into a plastic bag containing 8 L of 3% acetic acid at 50°C. During the dipping, the canisters were either submerged in acetic acid in the bag (ACH) or submerged and hand-shaken gently (ACHS) for 75 s. After treatment, the canisters were allowed to drip on a metal wire rack for 1 min. The NEG, POS, ACH, ACHS pork cubes at the geometrical center of the chubs were retrieved and placed in BPW for *Salmonella* extraction. Four pork pieces surrounding the center cube were also retrieved and analyzed for *Salmonella* to monitor potential cross-contamination and washout effects. This experiment was replicated ten times.

Experiment 5: Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) and Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) of *Salmonella* cells

Nalidixic acid-resistant *Salmonella serovar* Typhimurium culture was prepared at 9 log in TSB overnight, as described previously. One mL of this culture was aliquoted into a 2-mL microcentrifuge tube with a snap cap, and the tube was centrifuged at $3,500 \times g$ for 5 min to



remove TSB leaving the pellets of *Salmonella* cells at the bottom. Three treatments, including positive control (POS), 3% acetic acid at 50°C (ACH45) for 45 s, or 3% acetic acid at 50°C (ACH75) for 75 s, were randomly assigned to three tubes of *Salmonella* pellets. The ACH45 and ACH75 tubes received 1 mL of 3 % acetic acid at 50° for 45 s and 75 s, respectively, whereas the POS tube received 1 mL of BPW. After the designated treatment duration (75 s for POS), acetic acid and BPW (for POS tube) were immediately removed, and the pellets in both POS and the treated tubes were twice washed with 1% BPW and centrifuged at 3,500 × g for 5 min to neutralize and remove the acetic acid residue. The POS, ACH45, and ACH75 pellets were incubated in 1 mL of fixative (2.5% glutaraldehyde, 2% paraformaldehyde in 0.1M sodium cacodylate at pH 7.2) for 2 h at room temperature for further preparation of the cells for SEM and TEM. This experiment was replicated three times.

For SEM, fixed pellets were washed three times with sterile water and fixed in 2% osmium tetroxide in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer on coverslips. The pellets were then dehydrated with gradient concentrations of ethanol (Autosamdri®-931, Tousimis) and coated with 20 nm of platinum. The coverslips were analyzed on a scanning electron microscope (JEOL JSM-6500F Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope, MA, USA). Three randomly selected areas were analyzed at different magnifications to elicit the overall structure of the cells. For TEM, fixed cells were washed and dried similarly and embedded in LR white medium grade resin. Ultra-thin sections were cut using a Riecher Jung Ultra cut microtome, placed on copper grids, and stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate. The ultra-thin slices were analyzed on a transmission electron microscope (JEOL JSM-1230; Jeol USA, MA, USA) at 80 ky. Three randomly selected areas were areas were analyzed at different magnifications to reveal structural changes in *Salmonella* cells.



These analyses were repeated on all three replications to ensure that the visual differences among treatments were confirmed.

Experiment 6: Effects of temperature and dipping time of 3% acetic acid on pork quality Treatment application and sample collection

There was no *Salmonella* inoculation in this experiment. Either NEG, ACC15, 45, 75, or ACH15, 45, or 75 were randomly assigned to one of the 28 halves within a pork loin. The ACC and ACH chop halves were dipped in 100 mL of 3% acetic acid in a plastic cup at either room temperature (21°C) or 50°C, respectively, for 15 s, 45 s, or 75 s according to their designated treatments. The cubes were subsequently removed from the cup and allowed to sit on a metal wire rack for 1 min for dripping. Instrumental color (CIE L*, a*, b*) and reflectance spectra (400 to 700 nm) were recorded for the surface of the chop halves before and after treatment, as well as at half-height (approx. 0.65 cm) cross-sectional surface after treatment. Cross-sectional surfaces were allowed to bloom for 30 min before color measurement. The half portions of the chop halves used for color measurement were subsequently cubed, frozen in liquid nitrogen, pulverized to finely divided powder, and stored in -80 °C for chemical analyses.

Surface color (L*, a*, and b*) and myoglobin composition

The surface color of each chop half was measured at the 2.54-cm surface before and after treatment and at the cross-sectional surface after treatment using a Hunter Lab MiniScan 4500L spectrophotometer (Hunter Associates Inc, Reston, VA, USA) in triplicate. Reflectance spectra of 400 to 700 nm by a 10-nm interval and CIE L*, a*, b* values (illuminant A, 10° angle, and 25-mm aperture size) were recorded. Hue angle and chroma were calculated from a* and b*,



whereas percentages of deoxymyoglobin (DMb), oxymyoglobin (OMb), and metmyoglobin (MMb) were calculated from the reflectance spectra (AMSA, 2012).

Trolox-equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC)

Antioxidant capacity was determined using an ABTS+ radical cation assay (Re et al., 1999). Antioxidants in 1-g powdered samples were extracted using 4 mL of methanol (Szydłowska-Czerniak et al., 2008). A volume of 10 μ L of sample extract was added to 200 μ l of ABTS+ radical solution. The reducing reaction was allowed to equilibrate for 5 min, and the final absorbance was measured at 734 nm using Spectral Max Plus 384 spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices, LLC, Sunnyvale, CA) against 10 μ L of methanol in 200 μ L of ABTS+ as blank. The antioxidant capacity was expressed as millimoles of trolox equivalence per kg of meat (mmol/kg).

Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS)

Lipid oxidation was measured according to a method described by Holtcamp et al. (2019) with modifications. A 1-g powdered sample was heated at 90°C with 3 ml of 10% TCA and 30 μ L butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) in a water bath for 30 min and cooled quickly after heating. The solution was centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 10 min at 4°C. An aliquot of 100 μ l of the supernatant was heated at 90°C with 200 μ L of 0.02-M TBA solution for 30 min and cooled quickly after heating. The heating. The solution was then centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 10 min at 25°C. A volume of 200 μ L of the supernatant was pipetted into a 96 well plate, and the absorbance was measured at 532 nm against a blank and an MDA standard curve. The TBARS value was calculated as mg of MDA per kg of meat.



Protein solubility

Protein solubility was determined using the Bradford protein assay (Joo, Kauffman, Kim, & Park, 1999). A 1-g powdered sample was mixed with 10 mL of Millipore® filtered water, vortexed vigorously for 5 min, and centrifuged at $15,000 \times g$ for 15 min. The supernatant was diluted 10 times using Millipore® filtered water. A volume of 10 µL of the diluted supernatant was mixed with 300 µL of Coomassie blue reagent in a 96-well plate (Costar® 3370, Corning Inc., Corning, NY, USA) and incubated for 10 min at room temperature. The absorbance was measured using a spectrophotometer at 595 nm and compared with an external calibration curve of BSA. Protein solubility was expressed as mg of soluble protein per g of meat (mg/g).

Water-holding capacity (WHC)

Water holding capacity was measured by centrifugation as expressible juice (Jauregui, Regenstein, & Baker, 1981). Weighs of the insert (with a polypropylene mesh and 0.2- μ m nylon membrane filter at the bottom) and the housing were recorded. A 0.5-g of powdered meat sample was weighed into an insert of a centrifugal device. The insert with meat was placed back into the housing, and the device was centrifuged at 15,000 × g for 30 min. After centrifugation, the insert with meat and the housing with expressible juice were removed and weighed. The WHC was calculated as the percentage of expressible juice in meat samples.

pН

A 1-g powdered sample was mixed with 9 mL of Millipore® filtered water and vortexed vigorously for 5 min and pH of the supernatant was recorded by a pH meter with temperature-compensation probe (Accument®, model 13-620-631; Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), calibrated by pH 4, 7, and 10 standards.



Statistical analysis

A completely randomized design was used for experiments 1 to 5. Experiment 3 had a factorial arrangement of temperature and time. Experiment 6 was a randomized block design with repeated measurement of color on the same chop halves at the surface before and after treatment and at the cross-section after treatment, nested within each block. For Salmonella reduction data, the POS and NEG data were used for calculation and background Salmonella monitoring, therefore, not included in the statistical analysis. Salmonella and meat quality data were analyzed in a generalized linear mixed model with acetic acid treatments, time (when applicable), and the interaction (when applicable) serving as fixed effects and replicate serving as a random effect. Pork quality data were analyzed in a similar model with treatment as a fixed effect and pork loin as a random block effect. Pork color data analysis also had surface and their interaction with treatment as fixed effects and pork cube within a pork loin and a treatment as a random effect. The selection of the appropriate covariance structure for the repeated measurement (pork color only) was based on three default Information Criteria that were calculated by SAS in the smaller-is-better format (AIC, Akaike's Information Criteria; AICC, AIC Corrected; and BIC, Bayesian Information Criteria; (Kincaid, 2005)), resulting in a compound symmetry structure being used for all color variables. Analysis of variance was performed by the GLIMMIX procedure of SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, USA). Means, if differing, were separated by a protected t-test using the LSMEANS/PDIFF/SLICEDIFF (color data) statement of the GLIMMIX procedure. Actual probability values were reported.



Results and Discussion

Salmonella reduction by 3% acetic acid

In preliminary experiment 1 (Fig. 1), when using plating method at a 5-log inoculation, there was 0.2-log reduction in *Salmonella* count with ACC treatment (P = 0.026) and 0.3-log reduction with ACH treatment (P = 0.003) and both treatments did not differ (P = 0.320). When using an 8-log inoculation of lux-modified *Salmonella*, IVIS imaging revealed a similar (P = 0.370) 1.3-log reduction (P = 0.001) for both ACC and ACH. In preliminary experiment 2 (Fig. 2), there was no reduction of *Salmonella* on pork cubes for both HSC and HSH regardless of whether plating or IVIS imaging was used ($P \ge 0.200$). When *Salmonella* culture was used, there was a similar (P = 0.823) reduction ($P \le 0.003$) of 0.4 log for HSC and HSH.

In experiment 3, there was a 2-way treatment × time interaction (P = 0.030; Fig. 3). For 15-s dipping, ACH reduced *Salmonella* by 0.7 log (P < 0.001), 0.5 log greater than ACC (P < 0.001). For 45-s dipping, ACH reduced *Salmonella* by 1.0 log (P < 0.001), 0.7 log greater than ACC (P < 0.001). For 75-s dipping, the *Salmonella* reduction by ACH treatment was 1.4 log (P < 0.001), whereas the reduction was less for ACC treatment (P = 0.004), at only 0.5 log (P < 0.001). In experiment 4, ACH treatment reduced *Salmonella* in the geometrically centered cubes by 0.2 log (P = 0.040). The ACHS treatment similarly (P = 0.198) reduced *Salmonella* 0.3 log (P = 0.010; Fig. 4). Most surrounding pork pieces, including those of the POS chubs, had no *Salmonella* counts; only a few pieces had 1 to 3 CFU/plate.

In experiment 1, 15-s dipping duration resulted in a similar reduction between ACC or ACH treatments; both yielded an average of 0.3 log of *Salmonella* reduction. This might be explained



by the short dipping duration rather than the ineffectiveness of higher temperature. This duration was experimented by Anderson & Marshall (1989). These authors dipped inoculated beef semitendinosus muscle in 1, 2, or 3% acetic acid at 25, 40, 55, or 70 °C for 15 s and found that 3% acetic acid at 70°C for 15 s was most effective, reducing Salmonella by 1.5 log. However, at 3% concentration and 25, 40, and 55°C for 15 s, a similar reduction of 0.9 to 1.1 log of Salmonella was observed for the three temperatures. The authors suggested that the similar reduction at these temperatures was caused by a short dipping duration of 15 s, which was the same duration used in the current study. However, in the current study, only a 0.3-log reduction was observed at 3% concentration and 15-s dipping. Salmonella used in the current study was developed to be resistant to nalidizic acid at 25 ppm; whereas the strain used by Anderson & Marshall (1989) was not. Antibiotic-resistant bacteria have less outer membrane permeability which is mediated by porins (San Martin et al., 2005). This reduced permeability causes crossresistance with antimicrobial agents (Bower et al., 1999). In experiment 2, the purpose was to examine whether temperature alone could have an impact on Salmonella. However, although there was a 0.4-log reduction in vitro (Salmonella culture), no reduction was observed on inoculated pork. Most Salmonella strains possess thermal tolerance that enhances their resistance to desiccation and starvation (Dawoud et al., 2017). Heat shock proteins are also produced under acidic or alkaline conditions, which protect them against thermal stress (Foster, 1991; Taglicht et al., 1987). Therefore, not all bacteria subjected to a stressor are killed. However, sub-lethal heat shock at 60°C for 10 to 45 min induced injury to Salmonella Typhimurium (Wuytack et al., 2003). The preliminary experiments indicated that 15-s dipping duration might be too short to produce a meaningful reduction of Salmonella by 3% acetic acid. Moreover, heat shock may need to be combined with acetic acid to maximize efficacy of acidity. Most pork trimmings are



kept at refrigeration temperature to suppress bacterial growth (Nastasijević, Lakićević, & Petrović, 2017). This instant change from cold storage temperature to warm temperature of acetic acid may create an effective heat shock.

Experiment 3 produced a similar 0.2- to 0.3-log reduction to those in experiment 1 at 15 s and room temperature. However, as dipping time increased, acetic acid was more effective at 50°C than at room temperature, producing a 1.4-log reduction. Cutter and Rivera-Betancourt (2000) sprayed 2% acetic acid at 35°C on the surface of beef short plates at 862 kPa (125 psi) and produced 3.6-log reduction immediately after treatment and 2.4- to 3.3-log reduction from d 2 to d 35 on Salmonella count. Yoder et al. (2012) performed similar experiments at 276 kPa (40 psi) and 21 to 26°C (room temperature) for 15 s, allowed acetic acid to remained on the surface for 5 min and found a 3.5-log reduction on a pathogen cocktail. Similarly, Eggemberger-Solorzano et al. (2002) combined hot-water washing (25 psi, 82°C, 5 s) and 1.8% acetic acid rinse (25 psi, 3 s) and reduced *Escherichia coli* by 2 log. All these studies employed pressurized spraying of acetic acid, which potentially caused a wash-out effect in addition to bactericidal effects. Therefore, yielding a 1.4-log reduction in Salmonella count using acetic acid at 50 °C for 75-s duration in the current study is reasonable, especially obtained from 30 replications. It is worth noting that most studies on acetic acid efficacy in reducing Salmonella have been conducted on beef cuts and carcasses, in which spraying duration could be longer and the acetic acid was allowed to reside on beef cuts or carcasses for a few days without negative impacts on meat quality. A few researchers, such as Kang et al. (2003) who sprayed 0.5, 1, 1.5, or 2% acetic acid on pork loins for 15 s at 30 °C and found that spraying acetic acid at 2% was most effective and was able to



reduce *Salmonella* by 1.5 log after 24 h storage. A similar reduction of *Salmonella* (1.4 log reduction) was observed in the current study even before the storage of the pork cubes.

In experiment 4, the goal was to test the penetration of antimicrobial solution into the center of a bulk of pork trimming, simulating how pork trimming is collected, stored, transported, and received at further processing plants. Only 0.3-log reduction was observed. A greater reduction at 1.5 log with 5% acetic acid was reported by Stivarius et al. (2002) in a benchtop study on beef trimming after 3-min tumbling. This finding is similar to a 1.4-log reduction observed in the current study because the beef trimming was tumbled, which allowed a much greater penetration of acetic acid. Similarly, Harris et al. (2006) sprayed 2% or 4% acetic acid on inoculated beef trimmings when it was being moved by a conveyor belt and found a 1.5-log reduction of Salmonella at both 2 and 4% concentrations. These observations together with the findings in the current study indicated that penetration of antimicrobial solutions is important for the efficacy of such solutions. Poor penetration of acetic acid into a large bulk of pork trimming might be the major reason why acetic acid was not effective at reducing *Salmonella* on the inoculated pork cube at the center of the bulk. Therefore, acetic acid treatment must be applied to a spread-out layer of pork trimming, similar to what was experimented by Harris et al. (2006) on beef trimming.

Structural damages of Salmonella cells by 3% acetic acid

The scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images (Fig. 5 and 6) indicated damages in the cell membrane of the *Salmonella* cells treated with 3% acetic acid at 50°C for 45 and 75 s. The SEM images showed a less rigid surface of treated cells than the POS cells, especially for the 75-s treatment. The treated cells had a smoother surface



with less rigid structural grooves. Moreover, the TEM images clearly revealed structural damages inside the treated *Salmonella* cells and the disappearance of the cell membrane of the treated cells, especially for 75-s dipping. Some *Salmonella* cells treated for 75 s appeared to be dead and had no cell membrane.

Tan et al. (2015) suggested that the mode of action of acetic acid on Salmonella was to cause cellular ATP depletion and altered cellular DNA synthesis. The authors found that acetic acidstressed Salmonella had a greater ADP/ATP ratio, especially at neutral pH. They also suggested that undissociated acetic acid molecules actively participated in ATP depletion and is important because the meat medium is pH-neutral by buffering action of proteins. However, the authors also concluded that membrane disruption was not one of the mechanisms through which acetic acid kills Salmonella. The author reached this conclusion by using SEM images. Scanning electron microscopy, however, does not provide strong evidence of cellular damages in the case of acetic acid treatment because SEM images are produced by the reflected electrons and only provides the external appearance of bacteria through three-dimensional imaging. The TEM images, however, are produced from electron beams passing through thin sections of the bacterial cells, which form shadow-like images on a fluorescent screen and capture cellular structure (Kaláb, Yang, & Chabot, 2008). In the current study, the SEM images showed an intact membrane in both positive control and treated Salmonella cells, except for a smoother and less groovy surface of the treated cells. Once TEM was used to analyze the cross-sectional appearance of Salmonella cells, it was clear that the treated cell membrane was disappearing, and the integrity of the treated cells was compromised (black areas). This phenomenon was also observed by Jung et al. (2009), who used TEM to observe acetic acid-stressed Salmonella. The



authors provided similar images of damaged cells. Some cells, however, were able to repair the damages and recovered.

Effects of temperature and dipping time of 3% acetic acid on pork quality

Treatment had an overall effect on lightness (L*; P < 0.001; Fig. 7a). Treatment ACC45, ACH15, and ACH75 had slightly greater L* value (61.6 to 61.7) than NEG (60.3; $P \le 0.008$). Across all treatments, the surface before treatment and cross-section surface had similar L* values (60.1 to 60.6; P = 0.120; Fig. 7b), which was less than the L* of surface after treatment (62.1; P < 0.001). There was a 2-way treatment × surface interaction for redness (a*; P = 0.002; Fig. 8). Before treatment, no difference in a* value was found ($P \ge 0.076$). After treatment, all treatment cubes had 2.2 to 2.9 units less in redness than the NEG cubes (17.2 to 18.8 vs. 19.1; $P \le 0.037$). At the cross-sections after treatment, most treatment cubes had similar redness to that of the NEG cubes ($P \ge 0.154$), except for ACC15 cubes, which were 2.2 units greater (P < 0.001).

There was 2-way treatment × surface interaction for OMb (P = 0.051) and DMb (P = 0.003; Fig. 9). Before treatment, the OMb and DMb values similarly ranged from 65.9 to 66.6% and 5.1 to 8.3%, respectively ($P \ge 0.053$). However, after treatment, the OMb and DMb values of the NEG cubes remained at 66.6% (3 to 5% less; $P \le 0.037$) and 7.3% (2.0 to 3.8% more; $P \le 0.051$). No treatment difference in OMb was found at cross-sectional surfaces ($P \ge 0.244$). For DMb, only ACC15 and ACH15 had 2.6 to 3.1% more than NEG ($P \le 0.032$). The NEG cubes had approximately 1.6 to 2.0 % more MMb than ACC15, ACC45, and ACH15 ($P \le 0.021$) but were similar to other treatments ($P \ge 0.342$). Before-treatment surface had 1.7% more MMb than after-treatment surface (P < 0.001) but 1.8% less than cross-sectional surface (P < 0.001).



The pH of the NEG was 0.1 to 0.2 units greater than that of all treatment cubes (5.7 vs. 5.5 to 5.6; $P \le 0.014$; Table 1), except for ACC15, which was similar to NEG (P = 0.132). Antioxidant capacity of the NEG was 0.8 mmol/kg trolox equivalence, 0.1 mmol/kg more than that of ACH45 (P = 0.018) and 0.12 mmol/kg less than that of ACC15 ($P \le 0.040$; Table 1). The NEG cubes had a similar TEAC value to those of the other treatments ($P \ge 0.385$). No treatment difference was found for TBARS value (0.53 to 0.63 mg MDA/kg meat; P = 0.644;Table 1), protein solubility (30.92 to 33.72 mg/g of meat; P = 0.187; Table 1), and WHC as expressible moisture percentage (1.24 to 1.68%; P = 0.076 Table 1).

A slight increase in lightness after treatment could be explained by the acidity of acetic acid, resulting in more reflection of incident light and a brighter surface (Lopez et al., 2004). A similar increase in lightness was reported by Lin & Chuang (2006), who dipped pork loin chops in 2% acetic acid for 30 s to improve the pork shelf life. On the contrary, redness decreased slightly after treatment. However, OMb percentage of the pork cubes, which is usually positively correlated with redness (Salueña et al., 2019), increased slightly (3 to 5%). Acidity of acetic acid in the current study allows greater diffusion of oxygen that shifts the myoglobin oxygen dissociation curve towards more saturation state, i.e. oxygenation, and produces more OMb (Brewer, Novakofski, & Freise, 2006). In addition, Zhu & Brewer (2002) reported that low pH induces denaturation of MMb, making it insensitive to the metmyoglobin reductases. The reduction of MMb to DMb is important for the subsequent oxygenation of DMb to OMb (Friedrich et al., 2008). At temperatures from 25 to 50°C, however, these authors found that there was no difference in MMb denaturation across all pH. At 50°C, there was approximately 1 to 2%



more denatured MMb at pH of 5.3 than at pH of 5.6. This finding coincides with approximately 2% difference in surface MMb between NEG and treatment pork cubes. In the current study, the pH of the treatment pork cubes was 5.5 to 5.6, slightly less than 5.7 of the NEG cubes. Metmyoglobin reductase activity also decreases at the pH less than 5.6 (Andrews et al., 2007), which also decreased the redness. However, the only significant decrease in reductase activity was at the pH of less than 5.4. Therefore, the redness of pork cubes in the current could be affected by neither MMb denaturation nor reductase activity. Such a small decline (2 units over a total of 20 units) in redness could only be explained by the changes in light reflectance, similar to the changes in lightness, giving the short dipping duration and slight pH difference between NEG and treatment pork cubes. Although there were slight changes in lightness and redness of the meat surface after treatment, the analysis of the cross-sectional surface indicated that such a change did not occur inside the meat pieces. Surface changes in lightness and redness were less than 10%, and the changes on the surface do not alter the color of the entire pork cubes as well as the pork trimming in a meaningful way. A similar finding was reported by Jimenez-Villarreal et al. (2003) after the authors applied 5% lactic acid to ground beef and tumbled it for 3 min.

Low pH can cause the hydrolysis of triglycerides and increase lipid oxidation by liberating of fatty acids from triglycerides through lipolysis, leading to hydrolytic rancidity of meat (Jamilah et al., 2008). Isoelectric point of myosin (abundant protein of myofibrillar protein) is 5.4 (Huff-Lonergan, & Lonergan, 2005). A decline in pH from 5.7 to 5.4 results in less negative charge on the myofibrillar proteins, less repulsion of myofilaments, and less myofilament lattice, causing denaturation of myofibrillar proteins (Lin & Chuang, 2001). Denatured proteins are less soluble and hold less water (Westphalen et al., 2005; Li et al., 2018). The lack of negative impacts on the


overall quality of the treated pork cubes might be explained by the short dipping duration (75 s). Only a slight decrease in the pH of the treated cubes was observed because acetic acid is a weak organic acid (Kundukad et al., 2020) that remains undissociated on the meat surface (Jensen et al., 2003). Moreover, acetic acid dissociation at 50°C is similar to that at room temperature (Kahyarian et al., 2017). Meat proteins have great buffering capacity (Puolanne, & Kivikari, 2000). Only a pH close to the isoelectric pH of meat proteins, specifically myosin, at 5.4 can drastically decrease WHC and protein solubility because the total net charge and myofilament repulsion, respectively, at such a low pH is minimal (Lin & Chuang, 2001). A 0.1 to 0.2 difference in pH in the current study did not induce such changes. These findings coincide with the discussion above regarding MMb and reductase denaturation, suggesting that only when the meat pH declines below 5.4, the properties of meat proteins will be altered greatly. The slight decrease in pH of the treatment pork cubes also did not increase lipid oxidation, as similarly reported by Fu, Sebranek, & Murano (1994), who sprayed 1.5 % acetic acid on pork carcasses. Slightly greater TEAC value of ACC15 and slightly lesser values of ACH45 than that of the NEG can be explained by either an increase in solubility or denaturation of a small number of redox enzymes. Jin et al. (2011) reported that only prolonged duration under low pH can decrease activity of such enzymes. Overall, no meaningful change in meat quality was observed in the current study.

Conclusions

Acetic acid at 3% and 50°C provided a meaningful reduction of *Salmonella* by 1.4-log at 75 s. Heat-shock treatment without acetic acid on inoculated pork cubes did not reduce *Salmonella* efficiently. However, the heat-shock application revealed that there was no wash-out effect after *Salmonella* attached to the surface of meats. Dipping large bulks of pork trimming in acetic acids



62

was not effective in reducing *Salmonella* because acetic acid might not be able to penetrate large bulks of meat. The SEM and TEM images confirmed that acetic acid damaged bacterial cell membrane and caused damages in cellular structure. In addition, 3% acetic acid at 50°C did not cause any meaningful impact on the quality attributes of pork trimming. The surface color was slightly paler; however, no significant change in color in the whole meat pieces according to the analysis of cross-sections. Therefore, it is recommended to allow acetic acid to contact all meat pieces, such as spreading trimming on conveyor for a dipping or spraying application or loosening the trimming bulks to allow for adequate penetration by acetic acid.

Acknowledgement

Funding, wholly or in part, was provided by The National Pork Board.



Tables and Figures

Table 1Chemical quality of pork longissimus muscle treated with 3% acetic acid at room
temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s compared with
negative control (NEG).

Quality attributes	Treatments							or l	Р
	NEG	ACC15	ACH15	ACC45	ACH45	ACC75	ACH7 5	SE	value ²
pH	5.72 ^a	5.64 ^{ab}	5.60 ^{bc}	5.58 ^{bc}	5.53 ^{cd}	5.52 ^{cd}	5.45 ^d	0.10	0.001
TEAC (mmol/kg)	0.76 ^a	0.92 ^b	0.75 ^a	0.81ª	0.67°	0.86ª	0.74 ^a	0.07	0.001
TBARS (mg MDA/kg)	0.56	0.56	0.55	0.61	0.63	0.53	0.59	0.10	0.644
WHC (% expressible juice)	1.61	1.25	1.50	1.37	1.68	1.68	1.60	0.17	0.076
Protein solubility (mg/g)	33.72	31.43	30.93	32.37	31.34	32.17	32.64	2.13	0.182

¹ Pooled standard error

²Probability value of type I error for the Fisher test of null hypothesis ^{abc} Within a row, means without common letters differ.





Figure 1 Log reduction of nalidixic acid-resistant *Salmonella* (5-log inoculation; XLDplating) and lux-modified *Salmonella* (8-log inoculation; bioluminescent imaging) on pork cubes treated by dipping in 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) and 50°C (ACH) for 15 s.





Figure 2 Log reduction of nalidixic acid-resistant Salmonella culture in microcentrifuge tube (200 μL, 6 log/mL; XLD-plating) by dipping culture tubes in ice-cold water (0°C) and 50°C water in either cold-to-hot (HSC) or hot-to-cold (HSH) order. Application time was 2 min for culture to reach 50°C at 11.1°C/min.





Figure 3 Log reduction of nalidixic acid-resistant *Salmonella* (5-log inoculation; XLDplating) on pork cubes treated by dipping in 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s.





Figure 4 Log reduction of nalidixic acid-resistant *Salmonella* (5-log inoculation; XLDplating) on pork cubes placed at geometrical center of 2.3-kg pork chubs treated by dipping in 3% acetic acid at 50°C for 75 s without (ACH) or with handshaking (ACHS).





Figure 5 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images (top – 5,000X; bottom – 50,000X) of *Salmonella* cells for positive control (left), 45-s (center), and 75-s (right) 3% acetic acid treatment at 50°C.





Figure 6 Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images (top – 5,000X; bottom – 50,000X) of *Salmonella* cells for positive control (left), 45-s (center), and 75-s (right) 3% acetic acid treatment at 50°C.





Figure 7a Lightness (L*) of pork *longissimus* muscle serving as negative control (NEG) or treated with 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s, averaged across before- and after-treatment surfaces and cross-sectional surfaces.





Figure 7b Lightness (L*) before- and after-treatment surfaces and cross-sectional surfaces, averaged across negative control (NEG) and six treatments of 3% acetic acid dipping at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s.





Figure 8 Redness (a*) of pork *longissimus* muscle serving as negative control (NEG) or treated with 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s, on before- and after-treatment surfaces and post-treatment cross-sectional surfaces.





Figure 9 Myoglobin composition (%) of pork *longissimus* muscle serving as negative control (NEG) or treated with 3% acetic acid at room temperature (21°C; ACC) or 50°C (ACH) for 15, 45, or 75 s, on before- and after-treatment surfaces and post-treatment cross-sectional surfaces.



REFERENCES

- American Meat Science Association. (2012). AMSA Meat Color Measurement Guidelines: AMSA. American Meat Science Association.
- Anderson, M. E., & Marshall, R. T. (1989). Interaction of concentration and temperature of acetic acid solution on reduction of various species of microorganisms on beef surfaces. Journal of Food Protection, 52(5), 312-315.
- Andrews, B. S., Hutchison, S., Unruh, J. A., Hunt, M. C., Boyer Jr, J. E., & Johnson, R. C. (2007). Influence of pH at 24 h postmortem on quality characteristics of pork loins aged 45 days postmortem. Journal of muscle foods, 18(4), 401-419.
- Baer, A. A., M. J. Miller, and A. C. Dilger. 2013. Pathogens of interest to the pork industry: a review of research on interventions to assure food safety. Comp. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf. 12:183-217.
- Bekhit, A. E. D., Geesink, G. H., Morton, J. D., & Bickerstaffe, R. (2001). Metmyoglobin reducing activity and colour stability of ovine longissimus muscle. Meat science, 57(4), 427-435.
- Bertram, H. C., Kristensen, M., & Andersen, H. J. (2004). Functionality of myofibrillar proteins as affected by pH, ionic strength and heat treatment–a low-field NMR study. Meat Science, 68(2), 249-256.
- Bower, C. K., & Daeschel, M. A. (1999). Resistance responses of microorganisms in food environments. International journal of food microbiology, 50(1-2), 33-44.
- Boyen, F., Haesebrouck, F., Maes, D., Van Immerseel, F., Ducatelle, R., & Pasmans, F. (2008). Non-typhoidal Salmonella infections in pigs: a closer look at epidemiology, pathogenesis and control. Veterinary microbiology, 130(1-2), 1-19.
- Bradley, E. M., Williams, J. B., Schilling, M. W., Coggins, P. C., Crist, C., Yoder, S., & Campano, S. G. (2011). Effects of sodium lactate and acetic acid derivatives on the quality and sensory characteristics of hot-boned pork sausage patties. Meat science, 88(1), 145-150.
- Brewer, M. S., Novakofski, J., & Freise, K. (2006). Instrumental evaluation of pH effects on ability of pork chops to bloom. Meat science, 72(4), 596-602.
- Britton, B. C. (2018). Effects of antimicrobial interventions on food safety and an assessment of the Colorado pork supply (Doctoral dissertation, Colorado State University. Libraries).
- Castelo, M. M., D. Kang., G. R. Siragusa, M. Koohmaraie, and Elaine D. Berry. "Evaluation of combination treatment processes for the microbial decontamination of pork trim." J. Food Prot. 64, no. 3 (2001): 335-342.



- Cutter, C. N., & Rivera-Betancourt, M. (2000). Interventions for the reduction of Salmonella Typhimurium DT 104 and non-O157: H7 enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli on beef surfaces. Journal of Food Protection, 63(10), 1326-1332.
- Dawoud, T. M., Davis, M. L., Park, S. H., Kim, S., Kwon, Y. M., Jarvis, N., ... & Ricke, S. C. (2017). The potential link between thermal resistance and virulence in Salmonella: a review. Frontiers in veterinary science, 4, 93.
- Dorsa, W. J., Cutter, C. N., & Siragusa, G. R. (1997). Effects of acetic acid, lactic acid and trisodium phosphate on the microflora of refrigerated beef carcass surface tissue inoculated with Escherichia coli O157: H7, Listeria innocua, and Clostridium sporogenes. Journal of Food Protection, 60(6), 619-624.
- Draper, H. H., Squires, E. J., Mahmoodi, H., Wu, J., Agarwal, S., & Hadley, M. (1993). A comparative evaluation of thiobarbituric acid methods for the determination of malondialdehyde in biological materials. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 15(4), 353-363.
- Eggenberger-Solorzano, L., Niebuhr, S. E., Acuff, G. R., & Dickson, J. S. (2002). Hot water and organic acid interventions to control microbiological contamination on hog carcasses during processing. Journal of food protection, 65(8), 1248-1252.
- Fernandez-Lopez, J., Sayas-Barberá, E., Pérez-Alvarez, J. A., & Aranda-Catalá, V. (2004).
 Effect of sodium chloride, sodium tripolyphosphate and pH on color properties of pork meat. Color Research & Application: Endorsed by Inter-Society Color Council, The Colour Group (Great Britain), Canadian Society for Color, Color Science Association of Japan, Dutch Society for the Study of Color, The Swedish Colour Centre Foundation, Colour Society of Australia, Centre Français de la Couleur, 29(1), 67-74.
- Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 2017. GRAS Substances (SCOGS) Database. Accessed at https://www.fda.gov/Food/IngredientsPackagingLabeling/GRAS/SCOGS/default.htm. Accessed on Nov 14, 2017.
- Foster, J. W. (1991). Salmonella acid shock proteins are required for the adaptive acid tolerance response. Journal of Bacteriology, 173(21), 6896-6902.
- Friedrich, L., Siró, I., Dalmadi, I., Horváth, K., Ágoston, R., & Balla, C. (2008). Influence of various preservatives on the quality of minced beef under modified atmosphere at chilled storage. Meat science, 79(2), 332-343.
- FU, A. H., Sebranek, J. G., & Murano, E. A. (1994). Microbial and quality characteristics of pork cuts from carcasses treated with sanitizing sprays. Journal of food science, 59(2), 306-309.



- Harris, K., Miller, M. F., Loneragan, G. H., & Brashears, M. M. (2006). Validation of the use of organic acids and acidified sodium chlorite to reduce Escherichia coli O157 and Salmonella Typhimurium in beef trim and ground beef in a simulated processing environment. Journal of food protection, 69(8), 1802-1807.
- Huff-Lonergan, E., & Lonergan, S. M. (2005). Mechanisms of water-holding capacity of meat: The role of postmortem biochemical and structural changes. Meat science, 71(1), 194-204.
- Jauregui, C. A., Regenstein, J. M., & Baker, R. C. (1981). A simple centrifugal method for measuring expressible moisture, a water-binding property of muscle foods. Journal of Food Science, 46(4), 1271-1271.
- Jensen, J. M., Robbins, K. L., Ryan, K. J., Homco-Ryan, C., McKeith, F. K., & Brewer, M. S. (2003). Effects of lactic and acetic acid salts on quality characteristics of enhanced pork during retail display. Meat Science, 63(4), 501-508.
- Jimenez-Villarreal, J. R., Pohlman, F. W., Johnson, Z. B., Brown Jr, A. H., & Baublits, R. T. (2003). The impact of single antimicrobial intervention treatment with cetylpyridinium chloride, trisodium phosphate, chlorine dioxide or lactic acid on ground beef lipid, instrumental color and sensory characteristics. Meat science, 65(3), 977-984.
- Jin, G., Zhang, J., Yu, X., Lei, Y., & Wang, J. (2011). Crude lipoxygenase from pig muscle: Partial characterization and interactions of temperature, NaCl and pH on its activity. Meat science, 87(3), 257-263.
- Joo, S. T., Kauffman, R. G., Kim, B. C., & Park, G. B. (1999). The relationship of sarcoplasmic and myofibrillar protein solubility to color and water-holding capacity in porcine longissimus muscle. Meat Science, 52(3), 291-297
- Jung, W. Y., Choi, Y. M., & Rhee, M. S. (2009). Potential use of supercritical carbon dioxide to decontaminate Escherichia coli O157: H7, Listeria monocytogenes, and Salmonella typhimurium in alfalfa sprouted seeds. International journal of food microbiology, 136(1), 66-70.
- Hendricks, M. B., Tolen, T. N., Thippareddi, H., Anding, J., Moore, L. L., Griffn, D., & Taylor, T. M. (2018). Sanitary Carcass Dressing and Food Safety Practices in South Central US Small and Very Small Establishments Manufacturing Fresh and Not-Ready-to-Eat Pork Product. Food Protection Trends, 38(1), 52-62.
- Holtcamp, A. J., Sukumaran, A. T., Schnedler, A. E., McClenton, B. J., Kunze, E., Calkins, C. R., ... & Dinh, T. T. (2019). Effects of feeding endophyte-infected tall fescue seeds to stocker Angus steers on retail quality attributes of beef strip steaks. Meat science, 149, 31-39.
- Jamilah, M. B., Abbas, K. A., & Rahman, R. A. (2008). A review on some organic acids additives as shelf life extenders of fresh beef cuts. Am. J. Agric. Biol. Sci, 3(3), 566.



- Kincaid, R., Handley, S., Vailaya, A., & Chundi, P. (2005). U.S. Patent No. 6,920,448. Washington, DC: U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.
- Kahyarian, A., Schumaker, A., Brown, B., & Nesic, S. (2017). Acidic corrosion of mild steel in the presence of acetic acid: Mechanism and prediction. Electrochimica Acta, 258, 639-652.
- Kaláb, M., Yang, A. F., & Chabot, D. (2008). Conventional scanning electron microscopy of bacteria. Infocus magazine, 10, 42-61.
- Kang, S., Jang, A., Lee, S. O., Min, J. S., Kim, I. S., & Lee, M. (2003). Effect of organic acids on microbial populations and Salmonella typhimurium in pork loins. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences, 16(1), 96-99.
- Kundukad, B., Udayakumar, G., Grela, E., Kaur, D., Rice, S. A., Kjelleberg, S., & Doyle, P. S. (2020). Weak acids as an alternative anti-microbial therapy. Biofilm, 100019.
- Lawrie, R. A. (1998). The eating quality of meat. Meat science, 5, 184-223.
- Lin, K. W., & Chuang, C. H. (2001). Effectiveness of dipping with phosphate, lactate and acetic acid solutions on the quality and shelf-life of pork loin chop. Journal of food science, 66(3), 494-499.
- Li, X., Wei, X., Wang, H., Zhang, C. H., & Mehmood, W. (2018). Relationship between protein denaturation and water holding capacity of pork during postmortem ageing. Food biophysics, 13(1), 18-24.
- Lopez-Bote, C., Warriss, P. D., & Brown, S. N. (1989). The use of muscle protein solubility measurements to assess pig lean meat quality. Meat Science, 26(3), 167-175.
- Loretz, M., Stephan, R., & Zweifel, C. (2011). Antibacterial activity of decontamination treatments for pig carcasses. Food control, 22(8), 1121-1125.
- Mani-López, E., García, H. S., & López-Malo, A. (2012). Organic acids as antimicrobials to control Salmonella in meat and poultry products. Food Research International, 45(2), 713-721.
- Mine, Y., Li-Chan, E., & Jiang, B. (Eds.). (2010). Bioactive proteins and peptides as functional foods and nutraceuticals (Vol. 29). John Wiley & Sons.
- Mikel, W. B., Goddard, B. L., & Bradford, D. D. (1996). Muscle microstructure and sensory attributes of organic acid-treated beef strip loins. Journal of food science, 61(5), 1058-1062.
- Mohan, A., Pohlman, F. W., McDaniel, J. A., & Hunt, M. C. (2012). Role of peroxyacetic acid, octanoic acid, malic acid, and potassium lactate on the microbiological and instrumental color characteristics of ground beef. Journal of food science, 77(4), M188-M193.



- Nastasijević, I., Lakićević, B., & Petrović, Z. (2017, September). Cold chain management in meat storage, distribution and retail: A review. In IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science (Vol. 85, No. 1, p. 012022). IOP Publishing.
- Okrend, A. J., Johnston, R. W., & Moran, A. B. (1986). Effect of acetic acid on the death rates at 52 C of Salmonella newport, Salmonella typhimurium and Campylobacter jejuni in poultry scald water. Journal of Food Protection, 49(7), 500-503.
- Park, S. B., Steadman, C. S., Chaudhari, A. A., Pillai, S. R., Singh, S. R., Ryan, P. L., ... & Feugang, J. M. (2018). Proteomic analysis of antimicrobial effects of pegylated silver coated carbon nanotubes in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. Journal of nanobiotechnology, 16(1), 31.
- Puolanne, E., & Kivikari, R. (2000). Determination of the buffering capacity of postrigor meat. Meat Science, 56(1), 7-13.
- Re, R., Pellegrini, N., Proteggente, A., Pannala, A., Yang, M., & Rice-Evans, C. (1999). Antioxidant activity applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay. Free radical biology and medicine, 26(9-10), 1231-1237.
- Rostagno, M. H., & Callaway, T. R. (2012). Pre-harvest risk factors for Salmonella enterica in pork production. Food Research International, 45(2), 634-640.
- Salueña, B. H., Gamasa, C. S., Rubial, J. M. D., & Odriozola, C. A. (2019). CIELAB color paths during meat shelf life. Meat science, 157, 107889.
- San Martin, B., Lapierre, L., Toro, C., Bravo, V., Cornejo, J., Hormazábal, J. C., & Borie, C. (2005). Isolation and molecular characterization of quinolone resistant Salmonella spp. from poultry farms. Veterinary microbiology, 110(3-4), 239-244.
- Sanchez-Rodríguez, J. A., Navas, L., Vinuesa, F. M., Castells, C., Martínez, M. A., Lopez, A., ... & Cabrera-Vique, C. (2018). New insights on the risk factors associated with the presence of Salmonella on pig carcasses. Lessons from small slaughterhouses. Food Control, 87, 46-52.
- Schmidt, J. W., Bosilevac, J. M., Kalchayanand, N., Wang, R., Wheeler, T. L., & Koohmaraie, M. (2014). Immersion in antimicrobial solutions reduces Salmonella enterica and Shiga toxin–producing Escherichia coli on beef cheek meat. Journal of food protection, 77(4), 538-548.
- Self, J. L., Luna-Gierke, R. E., Fothergill, A., Holt, K. G., & Vieira, A. R. (2017). Outbreaks attributed to pork in the United States, 1998–2015. Epidemiology & Infection, 145(14), 2980-2990.
- Serpen, A., Gökmen, V., & Fogliano, V. (2012). Total antioxidant capacities of raw and cooked meats. Meat Science, 90(1), 60-65.



- Stivarius, M. R., Pohlman, F. W., McElyea, K. S., & Waldroup, A. L. (2002). Effects of hot water and lactic acid treatment of beef trimmings prior to grinding on microbial, instrumental color and sensory properties of ground beef during display. Meat Science, 60(4), 327-334.
- Surkiewicz, B. F., Harris, M. E., Elliott, R. P., Macaluso, J. F., & Strand, M. M. (1975). Bacteriological survey of raw beef patties produced at establishments under federal inspection. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 29(3), 331-334.
- Szydłowska-Czerniak, A., Dianoczki, C., Recseg, K., Karlovits, G., & Szłyk, E. (2008). Determination of antioxidant capacities of vegetable oils by ferric-ion spectrophotometric methods. Talanta, 76(4), 899-905.
- Taglicht, D. A. N. I. E. L., Padan, E., Oppenheim, A. B., & Schuldiner, S. (1987). An alkaline shift induces the heat shock response in Escherichia coli. Journal of bacteriology, 169(2), 885-887.
- Tan, S. M., Lee, S. M., & Dykes, G. A. (2015). Acetic acid induces pH-independent cellular energy depletion in Salmonella enterica. Foodborne pathogens and disease, 12(3), 183-189.
- US department of agriculture, food safety services (USDA/FSIS). 2016. News release: Pork Rinds & Snacks, LLC Recalls Pork Skin Products Due to Possible Salmonella Contamination. Accessed at https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/recalls-andpublic-health-alerts/recall-case-archive/archive/2016/recall-110-2016-release-expansion. Accessed on Oct. 13 2017.
- US department of agriculture, food safety services (USDA/FSIS). 2017. Raw Pork Products Exploratory Sampling Program. Accessed at https:// www.fsis.usda.gov / wps / portal / fsis / topics / data-collection-and-reports/microbiology/special-sampling-projects/rawpork-sampling. Accessed on Oct 14, 2017.
- Westphalen, A. D., Briggs, J. L., & Lonergan, S. M. (2005). Influence of pH on rheological properties of porcine myofibrillar protein during heat induced gelation. Meat science, 70(2), 293-299.
- Wheeler, T. L., N. Kalchayanand, and J. M. Bosilevac. 2014. Pre- and post-harvest interventions to reduce pathogen contamination in the US beef industry. Meat Sci. 98:372-382
- White, A. P., Gibson, D. L., Kim, W., Kay, W. W., & Surette, M. G. (2006). Thin aggregative fimbriae and cellulose enhance long-term survival and persistence of Salmonella. Journal of bacteriology, 188(9), 3219-3227.
- Wuytack, E. Y., Phuong, L. D. T., Aertsen, A., Reyns, K. M. F., Marquenie, D., De Ketelaere, B., ... & Michiels, C. W. (2003). Comparison of sublethal injury induced in Salmonella



- enterica serovar Typhimurium by heat and by different nonthermal treatments. Journal of Food Protection, 66(1), 31-37.
- Yoder, S. F., Henning, W. R., Mills, E. W., Doores, S., Ostiguy, N., & Cutter, C. N. (2012). Investigation of chemical rinses suitable for very small meat plants to reduce pathogens on beef surfaces. Journal of food protection, 75(1), 14-21.
- Zhu, L. G., & Brewer, M. S. (2002). Effects of pH and temperature on metmyoglobin solubility in a model system. Meat science, 61(4), 419-424

